
STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Venue: The Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Tuesday, 5th November, 2019
Time: 9.30 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby            Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 September 2019 1 - 4

4. Constitution Changes 5 - 98

5. Constitution Changes - Planning 99 - 102

Membership: Councillors David Banks (Chair), Ged McGrath (Deputy Chair), Graham Calvin, 
Sean Cullen, Joan Hully, Steven Morgan and Doug Wilson.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 17 SEPTEMBER 2019

Present: Councillors David Banks, in the Chair; Graham Calvin, Joan Hully and Steven Morgan.

Officers: Sarah Pemberton (Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy 
(Monitoring Officer)), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Stephanie Shaw (Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager) and Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer).

SEC 19/16 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ged McGrath and Doug Wilson.

SEC 19/17 Declarations of Interest 

Councillor Dave Banks declared a non-pecuniary Interest in Agenda Item 5 due to being a 
witness to the complaint and withdrew from the committee during discussion of that item.

Councillor Dave Banks also declared a non-pecuniary Interest in Agenda Items 6 and 7 due to 
knowing the complainant and subject Members.

Councillor Graham Calvin declared a non-pecuniary Interest in Agenda Item 7 due to knowing 
the complainant.

SEC 19/18 Minutes of the Meeting held on 20 August 2019 

RESOLVED:- that the minutes of the meeting held on 20 August 2019 be signed by the Chair 
as a correct record.

SEC 19/19 Exclusion of Press and Public 

RESOLVED – that the press and public be excluded for the remaining items of business in view 
of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Councillor Dave Banks vacated the Chair at this point.

SEC 19/20 Appointment of Chair 

It was proposed by Councillor Steven Morgan duly seconded and 

RESOLVED – That Councillor Graham Calvin be appointed Chair of the Standards and Ethics 
Committee for Agenda Item 5 of this meeting.

Councillor Graham Calvin took the Chair.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



SEC 19/21 To consider Complaint 1 under the Council's Code of Conduct procedure 

Prior to the commencement of the consideration of this complaint Members were introduced 
to the complainant and named Member.  Mr John Graham confirmed that he was an 
independent member who was attending to observe, challenge and advise.

The Chair advised the Complainant and named Members that the meeting was in private and 
recording was strictly prohibited.  The named Member and supporter, Complainant, Members 
of the Committee, Independent Person and officers all confirmed that they were not 
recording the proceedings.

Consideration was then given to an allegation that the named Member had made a threat of 
physical violence to another Councillor following an Extraordinary Meeting of the Parish 
Council on 21st August 2019.

The committee received representations from the Council’s Solicitor and the Chair invited 
comments from the Complainant and subject Member.

The Subject Member was given the last word in summing up.

The Complainant, subject Member and Supporter left the room whilst the committee 
deliberated and considered their decision.

At the conclusion of the deliberation it was

RESOLVED – that the committee unanimously agreed that there was not a breach of the Code 
of Conduct, as the meeting had closed, subject Member was deemed to have left the meeting 
and was not acting in the capacity of a Councillor.

SEC 19/22 To consider Complaint 2 under the Council's Code of Conduct procedure 

Councillor Dave Banks resumed the Chair.

Prior to the commencement of the consideration of this complaint Members were introduced 
to the complainant, named Members and their supporters.  Mr John Graham confirmed that 
he was an independent member who was attending to observe, challenge and advise.

The Chair advised the Complainant and named Members that the meeting was in private and 
recording was strictly prohibited.  The Complainant, named Members and their supporters, 
Members of the Committee, Independent Person and officers all confirmed that they were 
not recording the proceedings.

Consideration was then given to an allegation that was deferred from the last meeting on 20 
August 2019. The allegation was that the named Members had ‘led a campaign of constant 
harassment and bullying’ towards the complainant and that they ‘actively seek out 
opportunities to belittle or challenge the actions or advice provided’.

The committee received representations from the Council’s Solicitor and the Chair invited 
comments from the Complainant and subject Members.

Page 2



The Complainant read a chronological summary of the complaint after which the Subject 
Members requested a short adjournment to consider their response.

The Complainant and subject Members left the room during the adjournment.

The Subject Members responded to the allegations, after which Members were invited to ask 
questions of both parties.

The Subject Members were given the last word in summing up.

The Complainant and subject Members left the room whilst the committee deliberated and 
considered their decision.

During consideration of this Item, it was noted that business would not be concluded within 
the specified 4 hours. It was therefore moved by Councillor Dave Banks duly seconded and 

RESOLVED:– that in accordance with Rule 22.7 Chapter 4 of the Council’s Constitution, the 
meeting continue until the business on the Agenda be completed. 

At the conclusion of the deliberation it was

RESOLVED – that the committee unanimously agreed that there was not a breach of the Code 
of Conduct.

SEC 19/23 To consider Complaint 3 under the Council's Code of Conduct procedure 

Prior to the commencement of the consideration of this complaint Members were advised 
that as the complaint duplicated the previous agenda item, there was no merit in taking this 
complaint forward. It was recommended that this complaint be withdrawn.  

RESOLVED – that the committee unanimously agreed that this complaint be withdrawn.  

The Meeting closed at 2.25 pm 

Chair

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE – 5 NOVEMBER 2019

CONSTITUTION CHANGES

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore, Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and 
Corporate Services

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services & 
Commercial Strategy

REPORT AUTHOR: Stephanie Shaw, Electoral and Democratic Services 
Manager

SUMMARY:

This report seeks approval for updates and amendments to the Council’s Constitution. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                              

(a) That the Standards and Ethics Committee give recommendation to Full Council that the                                                                       
proposed layout be approved;

(b)   Note the consequential changes made in Part 2 - Articles 2, 9 and 11 and Part 3.10;

(c)   Recommend to Full Council the changes proposed in Articles 2, 3, 5, 7 and 13 be           
approved;

(d)   Recommend to Council that the Director of Corporate Services & Commercial Strategy 
receive delegated powers to be authorised to amend the Constitution accordingly to 
ensure regulatory compliance and process updates, including revisions for any necessary 
incidental or consequential changes.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The purpose of the Constitution is to set out the fundamental principles and 
procedures which govern the operation of the council.   Local Authorities are required 
by the Local Government Act 2000 to adopt a Constitution which contains a copy of 
the Council’s standing orders, its code of conduct for members and the detailed 
information required by the Local Government Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) 
Direction 2000.  

1.2 The Council is at liberty to change its Constitution from time to time, provided it 
continues to comply with the Direction.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



1.3 This ensures that the Constitution is a living document which accurately reflects 
current legislation and Council policy and priorities.

1.4       Although the Constitution has been changed from time to time since it was adopted, 
it is largely presented in the same format as when it was originally adopted following 
the implementation of the Local Government Act 2000.  It is often commented that it 
is too long and unwieldy.  With this in mind, the structure of the Constitution has 
been thoroughly reviewed.

2. CONSTITUTION AMENDMENTS

2.1 The layout of the current constitution is outdated.  Extensive research has been 
conducted, and, a new format has been proposed.  The new format comprises of 
Seven Parts as follows:

Part 1 - Summary & Explanation
Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution
Part 3 – Responsibility for functions and Terms of Reference
Part 4 – Rules of Procedure
Part 5 – Standards of Conduct
Part 6 – Members Allowances Scheme
Part 7 – Structures

2.2 The majority of the detail contained within the revised Constitution remains 
unchanged, the amendment has been to present in a more logical and readable 
format.   

2.3 A number of consequential changes have been made as a result of the Boundary 
Review Recommendations and the approval of the new committee structure.  These 
changes were delegated to the Head of Governance and Commercial at the Annual 
Meeting on 21st May 2019.  These changes are shown in blue text in the following 
sections:

Part 2, Article 2 – Composition 
Part 2, Article 9 – Standards and Ethics Committee
Part 2, Article 11 – Committees (Paragraph 11.8)
Part 3.10 – Terms of Reference for Standards and Ethics Committee 

2.4 Following a thorough review, some additional content has been added to various 
sections, for which approval is sought.  This detail is shown in red text in the following 
sections:

Part 2, Article 2 – Members of the Council
Part 2, Article 3 – Citizens and the Council

Page 6



Part 2, Article 5 – Chairing the Council
Part 2, Article 7 – The Executive
Part 2, Article 13 – Finance, Contract and Legal Matters

2.5 All other content, shown in black text, is un-changed from the existing Constitution.

2.6 This is the first tranche of changes. The Constitution review is ongoing in order to 
bring it fully upto date, and further changes will be brought to the Committee in 
November for approval by Council in December 2019.  These will include:

Part 2 – Article 10 – Officers
Part 2 – Article 11 – Decision Making
Part 3 – Terms of Reference for Licensing Committee and Personnel Panel; 
Scheme of Delegation
Part 4 – Full Council Procedure Rules, Executive Procedure Rules and Financial 
Procedure Rules

3. CONCLUSIONS

3.1 The above changes are necessary to improve the way we corporately operate, 
conduct business, ensure efficient processes, and, to facilitate effective and 
streamlined decision-making.  Approval is sought for the recommendations contained 
on the first page of this report, which may then be adopted with the Council’s 
Constitution.

3.2 A new version of the constitution incorporating previous amendments approved by 
Council, together with these amendments if approved, will be made available and 
published on the internet. 

4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 Legal/Monitoring Officer comments: Contained within report.

4.2 Financial comments: No financial implications arise from this report.

4.3 EIA Comments: No equality issues arise from this report.

4.4 Policy Framework: No issues arise from this report.

List of Appendices: 
Appendix 1 - Contents 
Appendix 2 - Summary and Explanation
Appendix 3 - Part 2 Articles of the Constitution
Appendix 4 - Part 3 Responsibility for Functions/Term of Reference

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSTITUTION

OF THE

COUNCIL

Page 9



COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

CONSTITUTION OF THE COUNCIL
This document is produced in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 2000 (Constitutions) (England) Direction 2000.

Originally adopted by the Council on xxxxx

The Copeland Centre PAT GRAHAM
Catherine Street Chief Executive
Whitehaven
Cumbria
CA28 7SJ

Page 10



Copeland Borough Council 

Constitution

CONTENTS

Part 1 Summary and Explanation

Part 2 Articles of the Constitution

Article 1 Overview of the Constitution and its purpose

Article 2 Members of the Council

Article 3 Citizens and the Council

Article 4 The Full Council

Article 5 Chairing the Council

Article 6 Overview and Scrutiny

Article 7 Executive

Article 8 Regulatory Committees

Article 9 Standards and Ethics Committee

Article 10 Officers

Article 11 Decision making

Article 12 Joint Arrangements, Locality Working and Partnerships

Article 13 Finance, Contracts and Legal matters

Article 14 Review and Revision of the Constitution

Article 15 Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the        
Constitution

Part 3 Responsibility for Functions/Term of Reference

1. Audit Committee
2. Electoral Review Working Party
3. Executive
4. Licensing Committee
5. Local Framework Working Party
6. National Significant Infrastructure Projects Panel
7. Overview and Scrutiny
8. Personnel Panel
9. Planning Panel
10. Standards and Ethics Committee

Page 11



11. Strategic Nuclear Energy Board
12. Local Choice Functions
13.  Scheme of Officer Delegations
14. Executive Responsibilities

Part 4             Rules of Procedure

1.  Full Council Procedure Rules
2.  Executive Procedure Rules
3.  Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
4.  Licensing Committee Procedure Rules
5.  Planning Panel Procedure Rules
6.  Access to Information Procedure Rules
7.  Employment Procedure Rules
8.  Contract Standing Orders 
9.  Financial Procedure Rules
10. Councils Comments, Compliment and Complaints Procedure 

Part 5 Standards of Conduct

1.  Members Code of Conduct 
2.  Employees Code of Conduct
3.   Member and Employee Relations Protocol
4.   Protocol for the Appointment of Honorary Alderman/Alderwoman
5.   Unacceptable Behaviour Policy
6.   IT Acceptable User Policy

Part 6 Members Allowances Scheme

1. Scheme of Allowances 2019/20

Part 7 Structures

1. Management Structure
2. List of Outside Bodies

Page 12



Constitution Part 1 Summary and Explanation V.1 - October 2019

COPELAND  BOROUGH COUNCIL

CONSTITUTION

PART 1

SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION

Page 13



Constitution Part 1 Summary and Explanation V.1 - October 2019Page 14



Constitution Part 1 Summary and Explanation V.1 - October 2019

COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL

CONSTITUTION

PART 1: SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

The Council’s Constitution 

Copeland Borough Council has a Constitution which sets out how the Council operates, how
decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that these are not only 
fair, but also efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.

The Constitution consists of seven parts, within Part 2, 15 Articles set out the basic rules 
governing the Council’s business. 

More detailed procedures, codes of practice and information which outline  Responsibility 
for decision making are provided in the Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution.

What is in the Constitution?  

Article 1 of the Constitution sets out the aims and principles of the Constitution and 
commits the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with 
businesses, and other organisations, to support the active involvement of citizens in the 
decision making process.  

Articles 2 - 15 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the Council operate.  
These are:

 Members of the Council (Article 2)
 Citizens and the Council (Article 3)
 The Full Council (Article 4)
 Chairing the Council (Article 5)
 Overview and Scrutiny (Article 6)
 The Executive (Article 7)
 Regulatory and other committees (Article 8)
 Standards & Ethics Committee (Article 9)
 Officers (Article 10).
 Decision making (Article 11).
 Joint Arrangements, Locality Working and Partnerships (Article 12)
 Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 13).
 Review and revision of the Constitution (Article 14).
 Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution (Article 15). 

Page 15



Constitution Part 1 Summary and Explanation V.1 - October 2019

How the Council operates 

The Council is composed of an Elected Mayor, elected every four years, and 33 Councillors 
(known as “Members of the Council”) also elected every four years.  Councillors are 
democratically accountable to residents of their ward.  The overriding duty of Councillors is 
to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including those 
who did not vote for them. 

Councillors must follow a local Code of Conduct to ensure high standards of behaviour and 
conduct in the way they undertake their duties.  The Code is based on the nationally 
prescribed model, which aims to ensure high ethical standards and increase public 
confidence in the integrity of their local councillors.

The Standards and Ethics Committee is responsible for promoting and maintaining high 
standards of conduct.   It also oversees the Council’s arrangements for dealing with any 
complaints received with regard to Members of the Council who may have breached the 
code of conduct. 

All Councillors meet together as the Council at the Full Council Meetings.  Meetings of the 
Council are normally open to the public.  At these meetings, Councillors decide the Council’s 
overall policies and set the budget each year.  The Council also appoints Councillors to sit on 
the following committees: Audit, Electoral Review Panel, Licensing, Local Development 
Framework Panel, Overview and Scrutiny, Personnel, Planning, Standards and Ethics, 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board and outside Bodies. 

The Mayor allocates responsibilities (Portfolios) to appointed Members of the Executive.  
More details can be found in Article 7.

Meetings of the Council, it’s Executive and Committees are, by law, publicised well in 
advance and are open to the public except where exempt or confidential matters are being 
discussed.

The other matters reserved for Full Council are set out in both Article 4 and Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 

How decisions are made 

Executive Arrangements

The Executive carries out all of the Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of 
any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this Constitution.  The Executive is 
primarily responsible for Community Leadership, implementing the policies of the Council, 
managing the resources of the Council and seeking to ensure that best value through 
continuous improvement is embedded throughout all the Council’s business, ensuring 
effective consultation. It must prepare and consult on the budget for approval by Full 
Council, and be the focus for forming partnerships with other local organisations.

Page 16



Constitution Part 1 Summary and Explanation V.1 - October 2019

The Executive consists of the Elected Mayor, who is elected every four years, and between 
two and nine Councillors whom the Mayor appoints.  All matters on which the Executive are 
to make decisions will be published in the Executive’s Forward Plan in so far as they can be 
anticipated.  The Executive takes decisions at meetings which are open to the public except 
where confidential or exempt information is being discussed. The Executive has to make 
decisions which are in line with the Council’s overall policies and budget.  

If it wishes to make a decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, this must be 
referred to the Full Council to decide. 

Regulatory and other Committees 

Some decisions are not the responsibility of the Executive.  These include the policy and 
budget setting functions performed by Full Council.  They also include those of a regulatory 
nature which deal with licences, planning and other permissions and consents, as well as the 
Standards and Ethics Committee which is responsible for monitoring conduct and 
behaviour.  

The Council appoints Members to other internal committees from time to time to assist it 
with its key priorities and responsibilities. 

Overview and Scrutiny 

There is a Committee with an Overview and Scrutiny role.  It supports the work of the 
Executive and the Council as a whole.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committees hold the 
Executive to account for the decisions it makes by monitoring those decisions. They are able 
to recommend that the Executive reconsiders a decision.  The Committees also have 
responsibility for reviewing existing and developing new policies for those aspects of the 
Council’s work they have responsibility for.  They allow citizens to have a greater say in 
Council matters by holding public inquiries into matters of local concern.  These lead to 
reports and recommendations which advise the Executive and the Council as a whole on its 
policies, budget and service delivery.   The Committees will also generally be consulted by 
the Executive or the Council on forthcoming decisions and the development of policy. 

Further information about the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny arrangements can be found 
in Article 6 and Parts 3 and 4 of the Constitution. 

The Council’s Employees 

The Council employs staff (referred to as ‘officers) to give advice, implement decisions and 
manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  There are 3 statutory positions within the 
Council, these officers roles are known as Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer who all have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the 
law and uses its resources wisely.  A protocol governs the relationships between Officers 
and Members of the council, and the Elected Mayor.  This protocol is set out in Part 5 of the 
Constitution. 

Page 17



Constitution Part 1 Summary and Explanation V.1 - October 2019

The Chief Executive and other Senior Officers have been given delegated authority by the 
Council and the Executive to discharge specified functions and duties of the Council.  These 
are set out in the Scheme of Delegations in Part 3 of this Constitution

Page 18



Constitution Part 2 Articles of the Constitution V.1  -  October 2019

COPELAND  BOROUGH COUNCIL

CONSTITUTION

PART 2

ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION

Page 19



Constitution Part 2 Articles of the Constitution V.1  -  October 2019

INDEX

Article       Page No.

1 Overview of the Constitution and its purpose xx

2 Members of the Council xx

3 Citizens of the Council xx

4 The Full Council xx

5 Chairing the Council xx

6 Overview and Scrutiny xx

7 The Executive xx

8 Regulatory Committees xx

9 Standards  and Ethics Committee

10 Officers xx

11 Decision Making xx

12 Joint Arrangements, Locality Working and Partnerships

13 Finance, Contracts and Legal matters xx

14 Review and Revision of the Constitution xx

15 Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution xx

Page 20



Constitution Part 2 Article 1 Overview of the Constitution V.1  -  October 2019

Article 1 – OVERVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION AND ITS PURPOSE

1.1 Powers of the Council

1.1.1 The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution.

1.2 The Constitution

1.2.1 This Constitution and all its supporting documentation, is the Constitution of 
Copeland Borough Council.

1.2.2 The Constitution is the legal document which authorises the Council to operate its 
business, and sets out the ways in which it will achieve its aims.  Should the law 
require the Council to act in a certain way and this is not covered in the Constitution, 
the law must take precedence.  If, however, the Council acts outside the authority 
given to it under the Constitution in the absence of this exception, it will be acting 
outside its powers (ultra vires) and be vulnerable to challenge in the courts.

1.2.3 The Constitution sets out how the Council Operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures which are followed to ensure these are not only fair, but also efficient, 
transparent and accountable to local people.  Some of these processes are required 
by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose, always ensuring it 
provides the best value possible with regard to sound financial management.

1.2.4 The Constitution is divided into various Parts and Articles which set out the basic 
rules governing the Council’s business, and the detailed procedures and codes of 
practice by which they operate.   

1.3 Purpose of the Constitution

1.3.1 The purpose of the Constitution is to:-
i) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in 

partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations.
ii) support the active involvement of citizens in the process of Local Authority 

decision making.
iii) help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively.
iv) enable decisions to be taken openly, efficiently and effectively.
v) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision makers to account.

vi) ensure that no-one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were 
directly involved.

vii) ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to 
local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and

viii) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community. 

Page 21



Constitution Part 2 Article 1 Overview of the Constitution V.1  -  October 2019

1.4 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution

1.4.1 Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of 
action, the Council will always choose the option which it thinks is closest to the 
purposes stated above, taking into account the overriding aims and objectives of the 
Council. 

1.4.2 The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in 
Article 14 of this Constitution.

Page 22



Constitution Part 2 Article 2 Members of the Council V.1 - October 2019

ARTICLE 2 – MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

2.1 Composition

2.1.1 The Council comprises of the Elected Mayor and 33 Members otherwise called 
Councillors, representing 17 wards. The Mayor and Councillors will be elected in 
accordance with a scheme approved by the Secretary of State.

2.1.2 The Council’s wards, together with the number of Councillors elected for each ward, 
are as follows:

Name of Ward Number of Councillors to be Elected
Arlecdon & Ennerdale 2
Beckermet 1
Black Combe & Scafell 2
Cleator Moor 3
Corkickle 1
Distington, Lowca & Parton 2
Egremont 3
Gosforth & Seascale 2
Hillcrest 3
Kells 1
Millom 3
Moor Row & Bigrigg 1
Moresby 1
Sneakyeat 1
St Bees 1
Whitehaven Central 3
Whitehaven South 3

2.2 Eligibility

2.2.1 Only registered electors of the Borough of Copeland or those living, working or owning 
property within the Borough are eligible to hold the office of Councillor or Mayor. 

2.3 Election and Terms of Councillors

2.3.1 Ordinary elections of all Councillors are held on the first Thursday in May (or on such 
other date as the Secretary of State may appoint) every four years.

2.3.2 From May 2019, a Councillors’ term of office starts on the fourth day after 
announcement of election, and finishes on the fourth day after the date of the next 
ordinary election.

2.4 Election and Term of the Mayor

2.4.1 Ordinary election of the office of Mayor is held on the first Thursday in May (or on 
such other date as the Secretary of State may appoint) every four years.

Page 23



Constitution Part 2 Article 2 Members of the Council V.1 - October 2019

2.4.2 From May 2019, the Mayor’s term of office starts on the fourth day after his/her 
election and finishing on the fourth day after his/her successor is elected, unless 
he/she ceases to be the Elected Mayor at any point during the elected term of office.

2.4.3 Should the Office of Mayor become vacant during the term of office prior to the next 
ordinary election, the rules for dealing with casual vacancies will be followed.

2.5 Roles and Functions of the Elected Mayor and Councillors

2.5.1 Key Roles

All Councillors will:-

i) contribute to policy making and the carrying out of strategic and corporate 
management functions;

ii) contribute to the good governance of the area and actively encourage 
community participation and citizen involvement in decision making;

iii) effectively represent the interests of their ward and of individual constituents 
(including those who did not vote for them);

iv) deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents with 
particular concerns or grievances;

v) respond to constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially;
vi) balance different needs and demands identified within the ward and Borough;

vii) participate in the governance and management of the Council;
viii) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

2.5.2 In particular the Elected Mayor and Councillors who are members of the Executive:

 lead the Community Planning process;
 lead the preparation of the Council’s policies and budgets;
 are responsible for implementing Council policy within the budget approved 

by the Council;
 provide the focus for the formation of partnerships between the Council and 

other local public, private, voluntary and community sector organisations to 
address local needs.

2.6 Rights and Duties

2.6.1 Councillors and the Elected Mayor have such rights of access to such documents, 
information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper 
discharge of their functions and in accordance with the law, and the provisions of the 
Council’s Code of Conduct and Procedure Rules.

2.6.2 Councillors and the Elected Mayor will not make public, information which is 
confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council or divulge any information 
given in confidence to anyone other than a Councillor or Officer entitled to know it.

Page 24



Constitution Part 2 Article 2 Members of the Council V.1 - October 2019

2.6.3 For these purposes “confidential” and “exempt” information are defined in the Access 
to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

2.7 Code of Conduct, Policies and Protocols

2.7.1 The Elected Mayor and Councillors will at all times observe the Member’s Code of 
Conduct and all other Council Policies and Protocols which are set out in Part 5 of this 
Constitution.  

2.7.2 Members of the Council are required to make a commitment to undertake training 
and development as part of their acceptance of office.

2.8 Allowances

2.8.1 The Elected Mayor and Councillors are entitled to receive allowances in accordance 
with the Members’ Scheme of Allowances, set out in Part 6 of this Constitution.

2.9 Attendance by Members

2.9.1 The names and signatures of Members present at any meeting of the Council, its 
Committees or the Executive, shall be recorded by the Electoral and Democratic 
Services Manager (or his/her representative) in an attendance book provided for that 
purpose.

2.9.2 A member who is unable to attend a committee meeting of which he/she has been 
appointed, must notify the Electoral and Democratic Services Manager (or his/her 
representative) at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting for the apology to be 
included in the minutes.  This ensures an efficient use of Member and Officer time by 
ensuring meetings are quorate in advance.  

2.9.3 Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that a member of a local 
authority must not fail to attend a meeting of the authority for a period of six 
consecutive months, unless the member’s absence beyond six months has been 
agreed by the authority before the expiry of the six month period, or he/she will cease 
to be a member of the authority and notified of disqualification by the Monitoring 
Officer.

2.9.4 It is the responsibility of the individual member to ensure their own attendance within 
the six month period. No reminders will be issued to Members regarding non-
attendance.

2.9.5 Apologies for absence do not constitute an attendance and will not be recorded as 
such.

2.9.6 If a Member becomes disqualified through non-attendance, there is no retrospective 
remedy. In this instance a by-election will be triggered, unless there is less than six 
months to the normal Borough election being held.  

2.9.7 The Elected Mayor and Councillors must sign the Declaration of Acceptance of Office 
within two months of being elected.  This must be signed in the presence of the Proper 

Page 25



Constitution Part 2 Article 2 Members of the Council V.1 - October 2019

Officer of the Council.  The Proper Officer in this instance refers to the Chief Executive 
or Monitoring Officer.

2.9.8 The Elected Mayor and Councillors are required to complete a Declaration of Interest 
Form within 28 days of signing their Acceptance of Office.  

2.9.9 Declarations of Interest Forms are published documents and it is each Councillors 
responsibility to ensure that this is kept up to date.  Any amendments to the 
Declaration of Interests Forms must be made on the amendments form within 28 days 
of the member becoming aware of such change.

2.10 Gifts and Hospitality

2.10.1 Members should treat with extreme caution any offer of gifts and hospitality which is 
made to them personally. The normal presumption should be that such offers must 
be courteously declined. 

2.10.2 Any gifts of hospitality of a value of £50 or more which are offered, whether or not 
accepted, must be declared in the Members’ Register of Interests Form as “Other 
Registrable Interests.”  

2.10.3 It is the member’s individual responsibility to inform, in a timely manner, the Electoral 
and Democratic Services Manager of any entry required to be made on the Gifts and 
Hospitality Register.

2.10.4 The Gifts and Hospitality Register is a published document.

Page 26



Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

ARTICLE 3 – CITIZENS AND THE COUNCIL

3.1 Citizens’ Rights

3.1.1 Citizens have a number of rights. The following is a general summary of rights in terms 
of information, the opportunity to participate and the ability to make complaints. Their 
rights to information and to participate are explained in more details in the Access to 
Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.

3.2 Voting and Petitions. 

3.2.1 Citizens on the electoral register for the area have the right to vote and sign a petition 
on any matter relating to Council business and for any such petition to be considered by 
the Council.

3.3 Information.  

3.3.1 Citizens have a number of rights in connection with their dealings with the Council.  
Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council’s own processes.  

3.3.2 The local Citizens’ Advice Bureau can advise on individuals’ legal rights. 

3.3.3 Where members of the public use specific council services, they have additional rights.  
These are not covered in this Constitution.

3.4 Citizens have the right to:

i) attend meetings of the Council, the Executive and any of its Committees or Sub-
Committees, except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be 
disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private;

ii) see agendas, reports and background papers (excluding confidential or exempt 
information) and any records of decisions made by the Council, the Executive 
and records of Executive decisions made by Officers under their delegated 
powers; 

iii) find out from the Forward Plan what key decisions are to be discussed by the 
Executive and when.

iv) inspect the Council’s financial reports and accounts and make their views known 
to the external auditor;

v) Have access to details of the name and address of the Mayor and Councillors and 
the ward he/she represents;

vi) receive information they request under the terms of the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004;

vii) vote at local elections if they are registered;
viii) contact their local Councillor and the Elected Mayor about any matters of 

concern to them;
ix) obtain a hard copy of this Constitution on payment of the fee fixed by the 

Council;
x) participate in the Council’s question time;
xi) contribute to investigations by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;

Page 27



Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

xii) petition the Council about a matter for which it has responsibility or which 
affects the Council’s area;

xiii) make representations to the Planning Committee under the terms of the 
Committee’s Right to Speak Scheme, set out in the Planning Panel Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution;

xiv) inspect the Council’s annual statement of published accounts and make their 
views known to the external auditor. 

3.5 Details of Meetings

3.5.1 Details of meeting dates, times and venues are publicised on the Council’s website 
www.copeland.moderngov.co.uk; published at the Copeland Centre and The Market 
Hall, or, they can be obtained from the Democratic Services team by contacting  
info@copeland.gov.uk or 01946 598300.

3.6 Agenda Papers

3.6.1 Agendas are published on the Council’s website five clear working days before the 
meeting (excludes weekends and public holidays).  Public copies of the agenda are 
available at the meeting.  Please contact Democratic Services if you require information 
before the meeting or a copy of the agenda.  There may be some items of Council 
business are confidential and the information is not available to the public.

3.7 Participation  

3.7.1 Citizens have the right to:- 

i) submit written questions to be asked at Council meetings, in accordance with 
the relevant procedure rules;

ii) submit written questions to be asked at its Executive meetings, in accordance 
with the relevant procedure rules;

iii) be consulted on the level and quality of local services; 
iv) make representations to the Planning Panel;
v) make representations to the Licensing Committee;
vi) contribute to investigations by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

3.7.2 The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work.  

3.8 Complaints

3.8.1 Citizens have the right to complain and/or make comment to:

(i) the Council itself under its complaints procedure. This can be found on the 
Council’s website www.copeland.go.uk or by contacting Copeland Direct on 
01946 598300;

(ii) the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members including Members of Parish Councils;

(iii) the Local Government Ombudsman, after using the Council’s own complaints 
   scheme.

Page 28

http://www.copeland.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:info@copeland.gov.uk
http://www.copeland.go.uk/


Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

3.9 Citizen’s Responsibilities

3.9.1 With rights come responsibilities. The Council is entitled to expect its council tax payers 
and any person who uses a Council service for which there is a charge, to pay promptly, 
within the set timescales.

3.9.2 When exercising their rights to attend meetings, citizens have the responsibility to 
ensure that their behaviour does not disrupt the conduct of the meeting and that the 
business being discussed can be carried out unimpeded. 

3.9.3 Any disruptive behaviour may result in the individual being required to leave the 
meeting or, in the event of serious disorder might, after appropriate warning, be 
removed from the meeting or the premises where it is being held. 

3.9.4 Citizens must not make vexatious, frivolous, irrelevant, or personally motivated 
complaints, nor, must they make unreasonable and repeated demands of the Council 
which could be to the detriment of other service users and citizens. The Monitoring 
Officer will act accordingly on any negative impact caused.

3.10 Petitions

3.10.1 The petitions process allows members of the public to have direct influence on the 
political process and to raise concerns that are important to them.

3.10.2 Anyone who lives, works or studies in Copeland, including citizens under the age of 18, 
can sign or organise a petition. However, the minimum age of a person permissible to 
sign the petition is ten.

3.10.3 Before setting up a petition, do check the verification number (see note below). If you 
need any help, then contact our Electoral and Democratic Services team.

3.10.4 Petitions can be submitted in paper format or electronically. 

3.10.5 All petitions sent or presented to the Council will receive an acknowledgement from the 
council within 14 days of receipt. This acknowledgement will set out what the Council 
plan to do with the petition.

3.10.6 A petition is defined as a communication in writing or using an electronic facility which 
is signed by the appropriate number of qualifying persons.

3.10.7 Paper petitions can be sent to the Electoral and Democratic Services Manager at The 
Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ.

3.10.8       Members of the public can submit petitions with regard to the following:

i) Issues relating to the Council’s responsibilities;

Page 29

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/voting-and-voter-registration/verification-number/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/contact-us/


Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

ii) Issues which affect the Borough or Communities in Copeland, as long as the 
Council is in a position to exercise some degree of influence;

iii) Anything relating to an improvement in the economic, social or environmental 
well-being of the boundary area to which any of the Council's partners could 
contribute.

3.10.9 The Council will respond to all the petitions it receives. 

3.10.10 The Council will consider any received petition in an efficient manner in order that it 
may be considered quickly and in the most appropriate way

3.10.11 All petitions will receive an acknowledgement from the council within 14 days of 
receipt. This acknowledgement will set out what the Council plan to do with the petition 
and state when they can expect to hear from us again. It will also be published on the 
Council’s website.

3.10.12 If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition organiser has 
the right to request that the Scrutiny Committee review the steps that the Council has 
taken in response to your petition.

3.10.13 The Scrutiny Committee will consider your request within 30 days of receiving it. Should 
Members feel that the Council has not dealt with your petition adequately, it may use 
any of its powers to deal with the matter.

3.10.14 These powers include instigating an investigation, making recommendations to the 
Executive or arranging for the matter to be considered at a meeting of the Full Council.

3.11 Councillor Call for Action

3.11.1 The Councillor Call for Action was introduced from 1st April 2009, with the enactment of 
The Local Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and The Police and Justice 
Act 2006.

3.11.2 The legislation gave new powers to Ward Councillors both individually and collectively 
through Scrutiny committees. 

3.11.3 The Local Government Public Involvement in Health Act defines Councillor Call for 
Action, which allows Ward Councillors to raise issues of local concerns, thus formalising 
the ability of Ward Councillors to formally raise issues of importance to their local 
community, through Copeland’s scrutiny function.

3.11.4 The Councillor Call for Action is described as “a key tool to empower Ward Councillors, 
making local government matters more responsive to the localities they serve”. This 
includes issues relating to the Council’s partners.

3.11.5 The principle behind Councillor Call for Action is that all cases should be resolved at the 
earliest possible stage of the process. Referring the case to Scrutiny should be the final 
option, once every method of resolution has been exhausted.

Page 30



Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

3.11.6 Scrutiny will effectively be the local ‘ombudsman’, with Ward Councillors unable to 
appeal to the Executive arm of the council against final decisions made by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

3.12 What is not a Councillor Call for Action?

3.12.1 A checklist has been devised to help you decide whether the issue is a Councillor Call for 
Action. Or a complaint, member enquiry or service request.

3.12.2 To help decide this, definitions are as follows:

Complaint
A complaint may be about delay, lack of response, discourtesy, failure to consult, or, 
about the standard of service received.

Member Enquiry
Enquiries from an elected Member of the Council, or, by the Member of Parliament for 
information from a council department.

Service Request
A request for a service that the council currently offers, but an individual resident is not 
receiving.

3.13 Excluded Items

3.13.1 The following issues are excluded for being dealt with as a Councillor Call for Action:
i) Any matter deemed to be vexatious or discriminatory,
ii) Individual resident complaints. Scrutiny can and should play a role where it is 

felt a series of complaints demonstrates a ‘systematic failure’ in a particular 
service area,

iii) Planning or Licensing applications or appeals, and
iv) Areas where a Councillor has an alternative avenue to resolve an issue through, 

for example, complaints or a service request. 

3.14 What does this mean for the Councillor?

3.14.1 The Ward Councillor is given more power and a central role in calling to account the 
work of Council, partner services and other local service providers.

Page 31



Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

3.15 The Call for Action process 

3.15.1 The following flow process chart shows the basic steps that a Councillor Call for Action 
will follow:

For further advice on Councillor Call for Action, contact the Scrutiny Officer or Democratic 
Services Team on 01946 598300.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

At meetings of the full Council, members of the public have a right to ask questions.

Question time will normally last up to half an hour. Please note that you will have to 
attend the meeting in order to put your question.  If you are unsure which meeting you 
should attend please contact Democratic Services. The Public Question Time does not 
apply to other meetings of the Council, although you can attend the Executive to ask 
questions about items on its agenda for that meeting.

MEETINGS OF FULL COUNCIL 

Local citizens have concerns about persistent or serious problems 
in their area and raises issue with their Ward Councillor.

Ward Councillor takes up concerns.

Issue Resolved Councillor unable to resolve issue

Councillor asks Scrutiny to 
investigate as a CCFA

Scrutiny considers, rejects, makes recommendations

Page 32



Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

At these meetings members of the public will only be entitled to ask questions at the 
Public Question Time item which is at the beginning of the Agenda.

GUIDANCE

WHO CAN ASK A QUESTION?

Any person who lives or works in the Borough.

DO I NEED TO GIVE NOTICE THAT I WANT TO ASK A QUESTION?

All questions must be in writing and sent or emailed to the Council’s Electoral and 
Democratic Services to arrive at least three working days before the Council meeting. You 
must give your name, address and other relevant contact details. Normally, only one 
speaker will be allowed to address the meeting on an item. Only one question from each 
person can be submitted.  One person should act as spokesperson for a group with a 
common interest.  The Chairman has discretion to allow a follow up question.

WHAT HAPPENS WHEN I ARRIVE?

You should aim to arrive at least 15 minutes before the start of the meeting.  Please 
make yourself known to the Electoral and Democratic Services Officer.  This allows time 
for an explanation of the procedures.  

HOW LONG MAY I SPEAK FOR?

A time limit of 3 minutes applies to each speaker for asking a question, though this may 
be extended if the Chairman agrees. Please note that only 1 question from each person 
can be submitted. A speaker can only usually only address Members once, unless it is in 
response to a question from a member, or if the Chairman allows you to address 
members again.  The Chairman has discretion to allow a follow up question

HOW SHOULD I ASK A QUESTION?

Begin by giving your name and address and whether asking a question as an individual 
member of the public or as a representative of a group. Please note that statements are 
not permitted and only 1 question from each person can be submitted. The Chairman has 
discretion to allow a follow up question

It is useful to prepare notes in advance to ensure that all the important points are 
covered.  Try and be brief and to the point.

Do not make derogatory or defamatory statements.

Bring an extra copy of any prepared statement for the Chairman’s information.

Page 33



Constitution Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and The Council V.1 - October 2019

SOME QUESTIONS ARE NOT ALLOWED

You may not ask a question in furtherance of your own particular circumstances. These 
should be taken up with officers or Councillors outside of the meeting. Nor may people 
ask about a matter where there is a right of appeal to the courts, tribunal or to a 
Government minister.  You may not ask a question about the service of any person 
employed by the Council.

The Chairman may disallow any question that, in his or her opinion, is improper, 
vexatious irrelevant or otherwise objectionable.  The Chairman can also limit the number 
of questions that a person may ask. The answer may be given verbally or in writing.

Any question not dealt with at the meeting will normally be answered within 10 working 
days. 

If a Citizen is unsure about how to or where to direct their question they should seek 
advice from the Democratic Services Team through Stephanie Shaw, Electoral and 
Democratic Services Manager on 01946 598535 or stephanie.shaw@copeland.gov.uk 

Page 34



Constitution Part 2 Article 4 The Full Council V.1  -  October 2019

ARTICLE 4 – THE FULL COUNCIL

4.1 Council Meetings 

4.1.1 There are four types of Council meetings:

i) the Annual General Meeting;
ii) Ordinary Meetings;
iii) Extraordinary Meetings.
iv) Special Meetings

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution.

4.2 The Role of Full Council 

4.2.1 To act as a forum where all Members can meet on a regular basis, act as a focus for 
the Council, discuss and debate issues of importance to the Borough and decide the 
Council’s budget and policy framework. 

4.3 Functions of the Council

4.3.1 The functions of the Council are set out in Part 4 of this constitution.

4.3.2 Only the Council will exercise the following functions: 

i) adopting and changing the Constitution (apart from minor amendments); 
ii) approving or adopting the policy framework and the budget; 
iii) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making decisions about any 
matter in the discharge of an executive function which is covered by the policy 
framework or the budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a 
manner which would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to/ or 
not wholly in accordance with the budget; 

iv) agreeing and/ or amending the terms of reference for committees and 
deciding on their composition; 

v) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an 
executive function or has been delegated by the Council; 

vi) adopting an allowances scheme 
vii) conferring the title of honorary alderman; 
viii)confirming the appointment and dismissal of the Head of Paid Service; 
ix) designating an officer as Head of the Paid Service under section 4 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989; 
x) designating an officer as Monitoring Officer under section 5 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989; 
xi) designating an officer as Chief Financial Officer under section 151 of the Local 

Government Act 1972;  
xii) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or 

opposing the making of local legislation or personal bills; 

Page 35



Constitution Part 2 Article 4 The Full Council V.1  -  October 2019

xiii)all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council. 

4.3.3 Further functions of the Council Subject to the delegation arrangements determined 
by the Council, only the Council will exercise the following functions: 

i) those functions relating to elections set out in Part 3 of this Constitution; 
ii) functions with regard to proposals for a change in governance arrangements.

4.4 Responsibility for functions  

4.4.1 The Democratic Services Team will maintain the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution 
setting out the responsibilities for the Council's functions which are not the 
responsibility of Executive.

4.5 Honorary Aldermen

4.5.1 The Council can confer the title of Honorary Alderman on former Members of the 
Council who have in the Council’s opinion rendered eminent services to the Council 
as past Members. The title is honorary only and does not confer any rights to attend 
or participate in meetings, except rights enjoyed by any member of the public. 
Honorary Aldermen are invited to civic events such as the Annual Meeting of the 
Council.  The protocol for the Appointment of Honorary Aldermen is set out in Part 5 
of this Constitution.

4.6 Freeman of the Borough

4.6.1 The Council can admit the title of Honorary Freemen or Honorary Freewomen of the 
Borough to a citizen who have, in the Council’s opinion rendered eminent services to 
the area. The Freedom of the Borough is the highest award that the Council can 
bestow.  The award does not confer any legal rights or responsibilities, other than a 
ceremonial role at civic functions. 

4.7 Meanings

4.7.1 Policy Framework

The policy framework means the following plans and strategies: 

 The Constitution;
 Corporate Plan; 
 Sustainable Communities Strategy;
 West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership;
 Local Development Framework;
 Copeland Housing Strategy;
 Food Law Enforcement Service Plan;
 Financial Strategy (inc Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment 

Strategy).

The Appointed Policy Officer is responsible for the upkeep of the Policy Framework.

Page 36



Constitution Part 2 Article 4 The Full Council V.1  -  October 2019

4.7.2 Budget

The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and 
projects, proposed contingency funds, the council tax base, setting the council tax 
and decisions relating to the control of the Council's borrowing requirement, the 
control of its capital expenditure, the Procurement Schedule and the setting of 
virement limits. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 2 Article 5 Chairing The Council V.1 - October 2019

ARTICLE 5 – CHAIRING THE COUNCIL

5.1 Role and function of the Chair and Deputy Chair

5.1.1 The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Council will be elected by the Council at the 
Annual General Meeting.

5.1.2 The Chair and, in his or her absence, the Deputy Chair, will have the following 
responsibilities:

i) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret 
the Constitution when necessary, having regard to the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer;

ii) ensure protocol is maintained and process is followed;

iii) to preside over meetings of the Council so that business can be carried 
out efficiently and effectively;

iv) to expect and ensure the highest level of Member Standards are present 
at all Council meetings;

v) To take necessary action when Member Standards exhibited fall below 
expectations of the Code of Conduct during the course of the meeting;

vi) act as community leaders;

vii) promote public involvement in the Council’s activities;

viii)promote and represent the Borough.

5.2 Nomination of Members for Election of Chair 

5.2.1 Where more than one nomination is made for election of a Member as Chair and/or 
Deputy Chair, voting shall be in accordance with the provisions of the rules on voting 
set out in Rule 16 of the Council Procedure Rules.

5.2.2 An effective chairperson must demonstrate and adopt an appropriate skill set for the 
role and therefore awareness training shall be undertaken by the Deputy Chair prior 
to taking up the term of office as Chair.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 2 Article 6 Overview and Scrutiny   V.1 - October 2019

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny

6.1 Appointment and Membership 

6.1.1 The Council will appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Committee comprising 11 
members. 

6.2 General 

6.2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be politically balanced.  Members of the 
Executive, Members of the Audit Committee and the Chair of Council are excluded 
from membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee may also appoint, in a non-voting capacity, people who are not 
Members of the Authority.

6.2.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for discharging functions 
conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended by the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and section 19 of the Police 
and Justice Act 2006. 

6.2.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will act at the Crime and Disorder Committee 
of Copeland Borough Council.

6.2.4 Members will be required to have undertaken the requisite training and 
development to the satisfaction of the Monitoring Officer. No member may serve on 
the committee who has not undertaken the appropriate training.

6.3     Finance

6.3.1 The Budget for this Committee will be held by the Electoral and Democratic Services 
Manager.

6.4 Annual Report

6.4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will report quarterly to the Council on its 
work. The report for quarter four update shall be in the form of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Annual Report. 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 2 Article 7 The Executive   V1  -  October 2019

ARTICLE 7 – THE EXECUTIVE

7.1 Role 
 
7.1.1 The Executive perform all of the Local Authority’s functions which are not matters 

reserved to Full Council or the responsibility of any other Committee of the Local 
Authority.  The Executive can make recommendations to Full Council and other 
Committees in respect of matters that are referred to Full Council for decision. 

7.2 Form and Composition

7.2.1 The Executive will consist of The Elected Mayor (the Mayor) and between two and 
nine cabinet Members, as appointed by the Mayor. 

7.2.2 Executive Members cannot be the Chair of Council, Deputy Chair of Council, a 
member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or a member of the Audit 
Committee.

7.3 Elected Mayor

7.3.1 The title of Mayor may only be used by the directly Elected Mayor.

7.3.2 The Mayor is elected to office by the electors of the Borough and will hold office for 
a term of four years or until:

i)        He / She resigns from the office;            
ii)        He / She becomes disqualified from holding office. 

7.3.3 The Mayor will carry out the following roles:

i) to appoint the Executive Members and Deputy Mayor;
ii) to decide on the Scheme of Delegation for Executive functions;
iii) to chair meetings of the Executive; and
iv) to represent the authority on such external bodies as the Mayor decides. 

7.4 Mayor as Member of the Council

7.4.1 The Mayor will be treated as a Councillor unless the law requires otherwise.

7.4.2 In particular, the Mayor:

i) is subject to the same rules regarding qualification and disqualification as any 
Councillor;

ii) must follow the rules about disclosure of all interests;
iii) must lead by example and comply with the Councillors’ Code of Conduct at 

all times;

Page 43



Constitution Part 2 Article 7 The Executive   V1  -  October 2019

iv) has an open invitation to attend any Council Committee meeting, with 
exception of Overview and Scrutiny Committee, other than by invitation of 
the Chair;

v) is subject to the Members’ Allowances Scheme; and
vi) is subject to the same rules about casual vacancies as apply to all Councillors.  

7.5 Deputy Mayor

7.5.1 After his/her election, the Mayor will appoint one of the Members of the Executive 
to act as Deputy Mayor and will advise the Council of that appointment at its Annual 
General Meeting.

7.6 Term of Office

7.6.1 The Deputy Mayor will hold office until the end of the Mayor’s term of office unless:
 

i) he/she resigns from office; 
ii) he/she is removed from office by the Mayor;   
iii) he/she is no longer a Councillor; 

7.7 Duties of the Deputy Mayor

7.7.1 If for any reason the Mayor is unable to act, or the office of Elected Mayor is vacant, 
the Deputy Mayor will act in his/her place until the Mayor is again able to act or a 
new Mayor is elected.

7.7.2 If the Mayor is unable to act, or the office of Elected Mayor is vacant, at the same 
time as the Deputy Mayor is unable to act or the office of Deputy Mayor is vacant, 
then the Executive must act in the Mayor’s place, or, arrange for a member of the 
Executive to act in Mayoral capacity.

7.8 Removal from office

7.8.1 If the Mayor removes the Deputy Mayor from office he/she will report the removal 
formally to the Proper Officer, and to the next meeting of the Full Council,  and shall 
also report the name of the Member newly appointed Deputy Mayor.

7.9 Executive Members appointed by the Mayor

7.9.1 Only Councillors may be appointed to the Executive.  There may be no co-optees, 
deputies nor substitution of Executive Members. 

7.9.2 Neither the Chairman nor Deputy Chairman of the Council may be appointed to the 
Executive. 

Page 44



Constitution Part 2 Article 7 The Executive   V1  -  October 2019

7.9.3 Members of the Executive may not be Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or the Audit Committee.

7.10 Term of Office

7.10.1 Other Executive Members shall hold office until:
 

i) they resign from office; 
ii) they are removed from office either individually or collectively by the Mayor;   
iii) they are no longer Councillors; 
iv)    the date following the council elections on which the whole council’s term of 

office ends.

7.11 Appointment by the Mayor

7.11.1 Subject to Article 7.2, the size and composition of the Executive will be at the sole 
discretion of the Mayor to decide. He/she may choose to appoint Councillors from 
any political group on the Council or those not in a political group.  The Executive 
need not reflect the political balance of the Council as a whole.  The Mayor will 
report his/her appointments to the Proper Officer and to Full Council as and when 
they are made, in accordance with the Executive procedures rules set out in Part 4 of 
the Constitution.

7.12 Removal from office

7.12.1 The Mayor may terminate the appointment of any member of the Executive. He/she 
shall advise the Proper Officer in writing and shall also report thereon to the next 
meeting of the Council, together with the name of the Member appointed in their 
place.

7.13 Inability of whole Executive to act

7.13.1 If all the Members of the Executive are unable to act for any reason, then the Council 
will appoint an interim Executive to discharge the relevant Executive functions. 

7.14 Proceedings of the Executive

7.14.1 Proceedings of the Executive shall take place in accordance with the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution.

7.15 Responsibility for functions

7.15.1 The Mayor will maintain a list in Part 3.12 and 3.13 of this Constitution setting out 
which individual Members of the Executive or officers are responsible for the 
exercise of a particular executive function.

7.16 Change within a mayoral form of executive.  

Page 45



Constitution Part 2 Article 7 The Executive   V1  -  October 2019

7.16.1 Unless the change relates only to the operation of overview and scrutiny 
committees, any resolution of the full Council to approve a change will have no 
effect without the written consent of the mayor. 

7.17 Change from a mayoral form of executive to another form of executive or to 
alternative arrangements, or from alternative arrangements to a mayoral form of 
executive.  

7.17.1 The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other 
interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals and must hold a binding 
referendum.  The change will not take effect until the end of the mayor’s term of 
office. 

7.18 Change from a leader and Executive form of executive to alternative arrangements, 
or vice versa.  

7.18.1 The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other 
interested persons in the area when drawing up proposals. 

Page 46



Constitution Part 2 Article 8 Regulatory & Other Committees V.1  -  October 2019

ARTICLE 8 – REGULATORY & OTHER COMMITTEES

8.1 Appointment of Regulatory Committees

8.1.1 The Council appoints regulatory committees to determine those functions of the 
Council which are not within the remit of the Executive, including the determination 
of applications or the direct regulation of a person where sufficient discretion exists. 

8.2 Proceedings 

8.2.1 Proceedings of the regulatory and other committees shall take place in accordance 
with the Council’s Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

8.3 Licencing Committee

8.3.1 The Terms of Reference for this Committee are set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

8.3.2 The Licensing Committee Procedure Rules are set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

8.4 Planning Panel

8.4.1 The Terms of Reference for this Committee are set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

8.4.2 The Planning Panel Procedure Rules are set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 2 Article 9 Ethics and Standards Committee V1 – Aug 2019

ARTICLE 9 – STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

9.1 Standards and Ethics Committee (S.E.C)

9.1.1 The Council has an established a Standards and Ethics Committee (prior to May 2019 
this was a sub-committee of the Audit & Governance Committee).

9.2 Composition

9.2.1 The Standards and Ethics Committee is composed of seven Councillors, who are 
appointed annually.

9.2.2 The Council is required under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 to appoint at least 
one independent person to assist the Council in matters relating to potential 
breaches of the Code of Conduct.

9.2.3 An Independent Person may be in attendance upon request of the Monitoring 
Officer and advise the committee but is not entitled to a vote at meetings.

9.2.4 If not in attendance at a S.E.C meeting, the Independent Persons (IP) advice will be 
sought prior to the meeting by the Monitoring Officer.

9.3 Appointment of Independent Persons

9.3.1 IPs must be wholly independent from the Council. They cannot be;
 an existing council member, co-opted member or officer of the authority, or of 

a parish council in this Council’s area, 
 a relative or close friend of such members or co-opted members, or;
 have been a member, co-opted member or officer in the 5 years prior to 

appointment. 
 
9.3.2 Only Full Council can appoint an IP. Once applications have been received, 

consideration will be given as to the best method of Council making the 
appointment. For example, if one application is received from a suitable person a 
recommendation can be made to Council. If a number of applications are received 
then the Head of Paid Service, in line with the Panel’s terms of reference, could refer 
the matter to the Personnel Panel who could make a recommendation to Council. 

 
9.3.3 An allowance is payable to each IP in accordance with the Allowance Scheme as set 

out in Part 6

9.4 Role and Function

9.4.1 The Terms of Reference for this committee are set out in Part 3 of this Constitution

Page 49



Part 2 Article 9 Ethics and Standards Committee V1 – Aug 2019

9.5 Standards of Conduct

9.5.1 Information on Members Codes of Conduct and protocols can be found in Part 5 of 
this Constitution.

Page 50



Part 2 Article 11 Decision Making V1 – October 2019

ARTICLE 11 - DECISION MAKING 

11.1 Responsibility for Decision Making

11.1.1      The Council is a public body created by law and so by its very nature is responsible for
                 making decisions in an effective, efficient and transparent way.

11.1.2 Decision making responsibility is a shared function and is delegated to various 
committees (including its Executive) and Employees of the Council.   Therefore, while 
the Council is always collectively liable as a body for the acts or omissions of its 
Members and Employees, it organises itself to draw on specialisms, and all-
encompassing considerations whilst still attracting best value for money for its 
citizens.

11.1.3       Accordingly, the Council issues and keeps up to date an Officer Delegation Scheme 
allowing Officers to work on its behalf.  The Scheme of Delegation therefore forms an 
integral part of the Constitution and can be found in Part 3.  

11.2        Principles of Decision Making

11.2.1    All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:

i) the rule of law;

ii) clarity of aims and desired outcomes;

iii) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);

iv) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers and/or 
appropriately qualified consultants;

v) respect for human rights;

vi) a presumption in favour of openness and transparency; 

vii) explanation of the options considered and the reasons for decisions;

viii) continuous improvement in all aspects of the Council’s business, having regard 
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness;

ix) to have due regard of the potential impact and outcomes in different sections 
of the community.

Page 51



Part 2 Article 11 Decision Making V1 – October 2019

11.3     Decision making by the Full Council

11.3.1  The Full Council meetings will follow the Council Procedures Rules set in Part 4 of the   
Constitution when considering any matter.

11.4 Decision making by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees

11.4.1       The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures
                 Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution when considering any matter.

11.5 Decision making by the Executive and other Committees established by the
Council

11.5.1    The Executive (and any Executive Committees) will follow the Executive Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution when considering any matter.  Council     
Committees will follow the Committee Procedures Rules set out in this chapter of the 

                Constitution when considering any matter.

11.6 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals

11.6.1 The Council and its Committees or an Officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial 
manner or determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the 
civil rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a 
proper procedure. This must accord with the requirements of natural justice and the 
right to a fair trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms.

11.7 Key Decisions
 

11.7.1  A “key decision” means an executive decision which is likely:

(a) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings 
which are significant having regard to the budget for the service or function to 
which the decision relates, or

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more wards in the Borough.

11.7.2  For the avoidance of doubt, the Council would regard any of the following as 
“significant” for the purposes of this Article:

 Any decision by the Executive in the course of developing proposals to the full Council 
to amend the policy framework.

Page 52



Part 2 Article 11 Decision Making V1 – October 2019

 Any single item of in-budget expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000.

 Any decision which is likely to have a permanent or long term (more than five years) 
effect on the Council and the Borough.

11.7.3 A decision taker may only make a Key Decision in accordance with the requirements
  of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

11.8 Committees

11.8.1       To assist it with its non-executive work the Council appoints the following committees 
whose remits are set out in subsequent chapters:

Audit Committee    7 Members
Electoral Review Panel    7 Members 
Licensing Committee  11 Members 
Local Development Framework Panel                        7 Members
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  11 Members
Planning Panel  11 Members 
Personnel Panel    7 Members 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board    7 Members 
Standards and Ethics Committee    7 Members

11.8.2      No business shall be transacted at any meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee 
unless at least one quarter of the total number of members are present, or three, 
whichever is greater.  The only exception to this is Licensing Sub-Committee for which 
the quorate is prescribed in Law.

11.9 Exceptionally Urgent Business of the Executive or a Committee delegated to the Chief 
Executive.

 
11.9.1 Where an urgent meeting of the Executive or a Committee to consider a matter 

falling within the Executive or Committee’s terms of reference is impractical, the 
Chief Executive shall obtain all relevant details of the circumstances and shall obtain 
the professional opinions of relevant officers including in all cases the Section 151 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 

11.9.2 If, following consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder or Committee Chair, the 
Chief Executive considers that the circumstances justify urgent action without 
reference to the Executive or Committee, the action shall be taken by the Chief 
Executive and a written record made of: 

 
i) Details of the action taken and why it was urgent 

Page 53



Part 2 Article 11 Decision Making V1 – October 2019

ii) Why a meeting of the Executive or Committee was impractical 
iii) Which officers and Members were consulted and their views 
iv) The decision taken by the Chief Executive 

 
11.9.3 A written report shall be made to the next ordinary meeting of the Full Council to 

include the details recorded in (i) to (iv) above. 

11.9.4 This provision should only be used in exceptional circumstances as by its very nature 
it overrides the special urgency provisions contained in this Constitution on Decision-
making, and should also be cross referenced with Contract Standing Orders in Part 4. 

Page 54



Part 2 Article 12 Joint Arrangements V1 – October 2019

ARTICLE 12 - JOINT ARRANGEMENTS, LOCALITY WORKING AND PARTNERSHIPS

12.1 Arrangements to Promote Well Being

12.1.1 The Council, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-being of 
its area, may:

(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body;
(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or   

body; and
(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or 

body.

12.2 Joint Arrangements

12.2.1 The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities 
and/or their Executives to exercise functions which are not Executive functions in any 
of the participating authorities, or to advise the Council. Such arrangements may 
involve the appointment of a Joint Committee with these other local authorities.

12.2.2 The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local authorities to 
exercise functions which are Executive functions.  Such arrangements may involve 
the appointment of joint committees with these other local authorities.

12.2.3 Except as set out below, the Executive may only appoint Executive members to a 
Joint Committee established in accordance with legislation, and, those Committees 
need not reflect the political composition of the local authority as a whole.

12.2.4 The Executive may appoint members to a Joint Committee established under 
legislation from outside the Executive where the Joint Committee has functions for 
only part of the area of the authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths of the 
authority by area or population.  In such cases, the Executive may appoint to the Joint 
Committee any Councillor who is a member for a ward which is wholly or partly 
contained within the area.  In this case, the political balance requirements do not 
apply to such appointments.

12.2.5 The Council has arrangements with the County Council involving a number of 
partnerships.

12.2.6 The Council is also a signatory to a Parish Charter for Copeland which has been 
entered into by the Council, Cumbria County Council, Lake District National Park 
Authority and Copeland Parish and Town Councils and Parish Meetings. The Charter 
documents how successful partnership arrangements are to take place between the 
signatories and commits them to the provision of general support and training for the 

Page 55



Part 2 Article 12 Joint Arrangements V1 – October 2019

local Councils, and joint governance participation consultation and planning 
arrangements.

12.3 Partnerships

12.3.1 The Council works in partnership with other organisations to ensure the delivery of 
excellent services and the development and operation of a community strategy for 
Copeland to the best advantage of the Community. These are wide ranging and 
include other public sector bodies and Councils, the business community, community 
groups and the faith and voluntary sectors. Members are also appointed to outside 
bodies which ensure the expertise, skills and knowledge amongst Members are used 
to benefit the wider Community.

12.3.2 This Council operates in a three tier local government environment of County 
Council, District Council and Parish/Town Councils. There are various committees, 
forums and meetings which take place on a regular basis which are designed to 
ensure the local governance of Copeland is run as effectively and efficiently as 
possible.

Page 56



Part 2 Article 13 Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters V1 – October 2019

ARTICLE 13 – FINANCE, CONTRACT AND LEGAL MATTERS

13.1 Financial Management

13.1.1 The management of the Council financial affairs will be conducted in accordance 
with the Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

13.2 Contracts

13.2.1 Every contract entered into by the Council will comply with the Contract Standing 
Orders set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

13.3 Legal Proceedings

13.3.1 The Council’s Solicitor (or designated deputy) is authorised to institute, defend or 
participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to 
give effect to decisions of the Council or in any other case where he considers that 
such action is necessary to protect the Council’s interests, acting within the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation. 

13.4 Authentication of documents

13.4.1 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf 
of the Council, it will be signed by the Council’s Solicitor or other person authorised 
by them, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has 
given requisite authority to some other person. 

13.5 Common Seal of the Council 

13.5.1 The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of the 
Council’s Solicitor.  A decision of the Council, or of any part of it, will be sufficient 
authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision.  Subject 
to Contract Standing Orders the affixing of the Common Seal will be attested by the 
Council’s Solicitor, or other person authorised by them. 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 2 Article 14 Review and Revision of the Constitution V1 – Aug 2019

ARTICLE 14 – REVIEW AND REVISION OF THE CONSTITUTION

14.1 Duty to monitor and review the Constitution

14.1.1 The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review both the operation and relevancy 
of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are 
both adhered to and given full effect.

14.2 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of the Constitution by the Monitoring 
Officer

14.2.1 A key role of the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and 
weaknesses of the Constitution adopted by the Council, and, to make 
recommendations to Council for ways in which it could be amended in order to 
better achieve the purposes set out at Part 2, Article 1.  

In undertaking this task the Monitoring Officer may:

 have open invitation to attend any Committee, Panel or Executive meeting 
of the Council;

 observe meetings in different parts of the member and officer structure;
 undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions;
 record and analyse issues raised with him/her by Members, officers, the 

public and other relevant stakeholders; and
 compare practices in this authority with that in other comparable 

authorities, or national examples of best practice.

14.3 Changes to the Constitution 
 
14.3.1 Changes to the Constitution will only be approved by Full Council, after 

consideration of the proposed changes by the Monitoring Officer, and, following 
reporting of said proposals to the Standards and Ethics Committee.   

14.4 Changes proposed by Members.  

14.4.1   Any Member may propose an amendment to the Constitution provided that:- 
i) Such a change is lawful, and 
ii) the proposal is supported by at least 10 other Members signing the proposal.  

14.4.2 Any such amendment must be:
i) considered and approved, or otherwise, as a recommendation to Standards 

and Ethics Committee by the Monitoring Officer. 
ii) approved by the Standards and Ethics Committee and recommended to Full 

Council for approval.
iii) Accepted and adopted by Full Council

Page 59



Part 2 Article 14 Review and Revision of the Constitution V1 – Aug 2019

14.4.3 The Monitoring Officer is delegated by Full Council to perform an annual review of 
the Constitution and to incorporate, where there is no adverse financial budget 
impact nor material operational impact to the Council, any relevant updates arising 
during the prior 12 months.

Page 60



Part 2 Article 15 Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution    V1 – Aug 2019

ARTICLE 15 – SUSPENSION, INTERPRETATION AND PUBLICATION OF THE CONSTITUTION

15.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

15.1.1 Limit to suspension.  Only Rules of procedure in this Constitution may be suspended 
by the Executive or by a Committee or the Full Council, following a vote and will only 
apply at the meeting at which that vote is taken.   

15.2 Interpretation. 

15.2.1 The ruling of the Monitoring Officer as to the construction or application of this 
Constitution to Council business shall be final.  Such interpretation will have absolute 
regard to the purposes of this Constitution. 

15.3 Publication. 

15.3.1 The Monitoring Officer will make a hard copy of this Constitution available to each 
Council Member upon delivery to the Monitoring Officer of that individual’s 
declaration of acceptance of office, at the point of the Member first being elected to 
the Council.   

 
15.3.2 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that a hard copy of the Constitution is available 

for inspection at the Council Offices. 
  

15.3.3 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that a summary of the Constitution is published 
and made available on the Council’s website, and, is updated with changes as 
necessary. 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 3.1 Audit Committee V 1  -  October 2019

Name Audit Committee

Number of Members 7  Politically Balanced
plus Independent Chair

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings Approx every two months

Lead Officer Chief Finance Officer / Monitoring Officer

Terms of Reference

1. To monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal Audit service and internal 
control environment and to:

(i)  approve an annual internal audit plan
(ii) monitor progress against the plan through the receipt of periodic progress 

reports and an annual Internal Audit report and assess whether adequate skills 
and resources are available to provide an effective audit function;

(iii) receive and consider major Internal Audit findings and recommendations;
(iv) monitor the response to major findings and the implementation of key 

recommendations.

2. To monitor the adequacy of the Council’s risk management, corporate     governance and 
anti-fraud and anti-corruption arrangements.

3. To approve on behalf of the Council, the Annual Statement of Accounts, the Annual 
Governance Statement, and the Statement of Internal Control.

4. To monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the External Audit service and respond to 
its findings and to

(i) discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit of the 
Council services and functions, and consider the external audit fee and terms 
of engagement;

(ii) receive and consider external audit reports and Management Letters and 
advise the Council as appropriate

(iii) contribute to and monitor the Council’s response to the external auditor’s 
findings and the implementation of external audit recommendations

Page 63



Constitution Part 3.1 Audit Committee V 1  -  October 2019

5. To monitor the effectiveness of working relationships between internal and external 
audit functions.

6. To refer to the appropriate overview and scrutiny committee any issues relating to the 
development or review of Council policy or the scrutiny of particular Executive or 
regulatory decisions.

7. To be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the Treasury Management Strategy 
and policies

8. To receive regular reports about the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
counter fraud and corruption arrangements

9. To undertake a self-assessment exercise on a yearly basis to ensure that its own 
effectiveness is regularly reviewed

Page 64



Constitution Part 3.2 Electoral Review Working Party V1  -  Aug 2019

Name Electoral Review Panel

Number of Members 7      (Politically Balanced)

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings As required

Lead Officer Electoral and Democratic Services Manager

Terms of Reference

1. To consider issues referred to the Council relating to Parish boundaries, with 
delegated authority to respond to such issues on the Council’s behalf.

2. To conduct and make recommendations to the Council on community governance 
reviews under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 3.3 Executive V.1  -  Aug 2019

Name Executive

Number of Members
Mayor plus between two and nine Councillors 

appointed by the Mayor.

Quorum
One quarter of the total number of members of the 

Executive or three, whichever is greater.

Frequency of Meetings Monthly

Lead Officer Chief Executive

Terms of Reference

Members of the Executive have wide ranging leadership roles collectively and will need to 
undertake the following:

Portfolio leadership

 Engender strong working partnerships with relevant senior officers within the 
portfolio 

 Give political direction to officers working within the portfolio
 Gain the respect of officers within the portfolio; provide support to officers in the 

implementation of portfolio programmes
 Provide leadership in the portfolio
 Liaise with the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and receive scrutiny 

reports and attend Scrutiny meetings as required 
 Be accountable for choices and performance in the portfolio
 Have an overview of the performance management, efficiency and effectiveness of 

the portfolio
 Make executive decisions within the Portfolio in accordance with delegated authority 

and the political context

Contribute to the setting of strategic agenda and work programme for the portfolio

 Work with officers to formulate policy documents both strategic and statutory. 
 Ensure that the political will of the majority is carried to and through the Executive.
 Provide assistance in working up and carrying through a strategic work programme 

both political and statutory. 
 Carry out consultations with key partners as required. 
 Make sure that the portfolio’s work programme is kept up to date and accurate.

Page 67



Constitution Part 3.3 Executive V.1  -  Aug 2019

Provide representation for the portfolio

 Provide a strong, competent and persuasive figure to represent the portfolio. 
 Be a figurehead in meetings with key partners.

Reporting and accounting

 Report as appropriate to the Mayor, Full Council, Executive, Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, regulatory bodies and the media in consultation or as directed 
by the Mayor.

 Be the principal political spokesperson for the portfolio along with the Mayor and 
other executive colleagues.

 Appear before the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in respect of matters within the 
portfolio. 

 Take an active part in Executive meetings and decision making
 Show an interest in and support for the portfolios of others
 Recognise and contribute to issues which cut across portfolios or are issues of 

collective responsibility 

Leading partnerships and community leadership 

 Give leadership to local strategic partnerships and local partners in the pursuit of 
common aims and priorities

 Negotiate and broker in cases of differing priorities and disagreement
 Act as a leader of the local community by showing vision and foresight   

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships

 Promote and support good governance of Copeland Borough Council and its affairs
 Provide community leadership and promote active participation by Copeland citizens
 Promote and support open and transparent government 
 Support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate and effective relationships with 

employees of Copeland Borough Council
 Adhere to the Members’ Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol and the highest 

standards of behaviour in public office   

Mayor

Leadership Responsibilities

In addition to the collective roles and responsibilities as a Member of the Executive the main 
areas of responsibility for the Mayor are: 
 

Page 68



Constitution Part 3.3 Executive V.1  -  Aug 2019

 Providing political leadership in relation to the Council’s reaction to legislation affecting    
the operation of Local Government as a whole, rather than specific services.

 Providing political leadership in relation to proposals for enhancing the system of two tier 
local government as they affect the Borough.

 Constitutional matters and the ongoing development of the Council’s Constitution
 Providing leadership on the Council’s emergency planning arrangements
 Coordinating the activities of the various portfolio holders.
 Chairing the Executive
 Managing relationships between the Council’s various political groups and ensuring that 

the Executive is properly accountable to the wider Council.
 To agree urgent consultation responses to documents circulated by other organisations

Proceedings of the Executive                                                                             
Proceedings of the Executive shall take place in accordance with the Executive Procedure 
Rules set out in this Chapter.

Functions delegated to the Executive by Council
The Executive shall exercise the following functions of the Council: -  

Policy

1. To approve annual business plans and monitor implementation.

2. To make recommendations to Council for the establishment of policies which shall 
include the Council's Corporate Improvement Plan.  

3. To request the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider and develop policy 
responses on specific issues and undertake review initiatives relating to policy, 
quality and performance.

4. To consider and make recommendations to Council on the formation, remit, 
development and implementation of joint Committees with the County and other 
District Councils.

5. Recommending the organisation and management policies of the Council to ensure 
that such policies are designed to make the most effective contribution to the 
achievement of the Council's objectives and the review of such policies in the light 
of changing circumstances.

6. Recommendation of policy direction of the Council and in particular the policy 
direction of the Directors.

 
Financial

7. Consideration and determination of the Council's budgetary process including the 
identification of priorities or provision of services and the monitoring of the Council's 
budgets.

Page 69



Constitution Part 3.3 Executive V.1  -  Aug 2019

8. Recommendation of draft budget proposals to Full Council.

9. Consideration and determination of issues of significant underspending and 
overspending in current budgets as revealed by monitoring systems.

10. Virement of expenditure and the approval of supplementary estimates which can be 
met within the contingency provision in the revenue estimates in accordance with 
limits set out in Financial Regulations.

11. Virements within the current approved capital programme in accordance with 
Financial and Contract Procedure Rules as set out Part 4 of this Constitution.

12. Additions or deletions to/from the current capital programme, or changes to the 
financing in any one year of the programme, in accordance with Financial 
Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules.

    
13. Setting guidelines for service development plans, budgets and the capital    

programme.

14. Consideration and determination of breaches of the Council's Rules including 
Finance and Contract Procedure Rules.

15. Establishment of procedures relating to financial administration, banking, loans and  
       investments, wages, salaries, superannuation, insurance, creditors and debtors.

16. Noting of irrecoverable debts as agreed by Corporate Team in accordance with limits 
set out in Financial Regulations.

17. Determining policies for the making of grants, loans or other financial assistance and 
       establishing schemes of assistance.

Legal

18. Parliamentary and electoral matters and any matters involving High Court and    
other litigation by or against the Council.

19. Determination of matters relating to complaints to and reports from the Local 
Government Ombudsman. 

Personnel

20. Consideration and recommendation of strategic policies in relation to employment 
matters, personnel recruitment and training, industrial relations and human resource 
planning.

21. Consideration and recommendation of strategic policies relating to disciplinary 

Page 70



Constitution Part 3.3 Executive V.1  -  Aug 2019

action and grievances and the consideration of appeals in accordance with such policies.

Planning and Development

22. Implementation of policies for grant aid for the economic development of the 
Borough from all sources, Local, National and European.

Land and Property

23.  Being responsible for acquisitions disposals or exchanges, grants, taking and   
surrender of leases, wayleaves, licences, boundary adjustments, waiver of    
restrictive  covenants and similar agreements undertaken by the Council and action 
in relation to incursions onto such land and property, in categories of value as set 
out in Contract Standing Orders.

24. Arranging for the provision and management of such office accommodation as is 
required to meet the needs of the Council.

25. Setting and monitoring energy management policy and practice.

Housing

26. To determine procedures for dealing with cases of homelessness.

27. To be responsible for grants of waivers of restrictive covenants imposed upon 
properties sold under the Right To Buy provisions of the Housing Act 1985, in 
accordance with Council policy, and action in relation to incursions onto Housing 
Revenue Account land and property.

Emergency Planning

28. To monitor and review the arrangements for dealing with emergencies in and 
affecting the Borough.

29. To lobby central government for such resources as are deemed necessary for 
maintaining effective plans for emergencies.

30. To monitor and review joint working arrangements with other authorities 
responsible for planning and dealing with emergencies. 

Other Functions

31. Other functions not specified in Regulation 2 and Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, as amended. 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

TO BE REVIEWED

Name Licensing Committee

Number of Members 11    Politically Balanced

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings As required

Lead Officer Public Protection Manager

Terms of Reference

1. The discharge on behalf of the Council of all licensing functions contained in the 
Licensing Act 2003 other than the determination of a licensing policy in accordance 
with section 5 of that Act;

2. The discharge on behalf of the Council of all licensing functions contained in the 
Gambling Act 2005 other than the determination of a gambling policy in accordance 
with section 349 of that Act;

3. Fee setting, where appropriate, under the Gambling Act 2005, Town and Police 
Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

4. The review of premises licences of a particular class by the licensing authority under 
section 200(1) of the Gambling Act 2005.

 Licensing Sub-Committee

1. In respect of licensing functions contained in the Licensing Act 2003 the discharge of 
the following functions:

1.1 Applications for a personal licence if a police objection is made;

1.2 Applications for a personal licence with unspent relevant offence or foreign 
offence convictions;

1.3 Applications for a premises licence/club premises certificate if a relevant 
representation is made;

Page 73



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

1.4 Applications for a provisional statement if a relevant representation is made;

1.5 Applications to vary a premises licence/club premises certificate if a relevant 
representation is made;

1.6 Applications to vary a designated premises supervisor if a police objection is 
made;

1.7 Applications for the transfer of a premises licence if a police objection is 
made;

1.8 Applications for an interim authority if a police objection is made;

1.9 Applications for a review of a premises licence/club premises certificate;

1.10 A decision to object when the Council is consultee and not the relevant 
authority considering the application;

1.11 The determination of a police objection to a temporary event notice;

1.12 A decision on whether a personal licence should be revoked where 
convictions come to light after grant and a police objection is made;

1.13 Notification to premises licence/club premises certificate holders that 
admission of children to a particular film must be restricted in accordance 
with a recommendation made by the Sub-Committee;

2. In respect of licensing functions contained in the Gambling Act 2005 the discharge of 
the following functions:

2.1 Applications for a premises licence where a representation is received and 
not withdrawn;

2.2 Applications for a variation to a premises licences where a representation has 
been received and not withdrawn;

2.3 Applications for a transfer of a premises licences where representations have 
been received and not withdrawn;

2.4 Applications for a provisional statement where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn;

2.5 Applications for a review of a premises licence at the request of a responsible 
authority or interested party (section 197);

2.6 A review of a premises licence by the Licensing Authority (section 200(2));

2.7 Applications for a club gaming/club machine permit where objections have 
been made and not withdrawn;

2.8 Cancellation of a club gaming/club machine permit; and

Page 74



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

2.9 Decisions to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice

2.10 Cancellation of small lottery registration

2.11 To review the level of fees for licences under section 212.

Public Protection Manager

In respect of licensing functions contained in the Licensing Act 2003 the discharge of 
the following functions:

1.1 Applications for a personal licence where no objection is made;

1.2 Applications for a premises licence or club premises certificate where no 
representations are received or representations are received but withdrawn;

1.3 Application for a provisional statement where no representations are 
received or representation are received but withdrawn;

1.4 Applications to vary a premises licence or club registration certificate where 
no representations are received or representations are received but 
withdrawn;

1.5 Applications to vary the designated premises supervisor where no police 
objection is received;

1.6 Requests to be removed as a designated premises supervisor;

1.7 Applications for the transfer of a premises licences where no police objection 
is received;

1.8 Applications for interim authorities where no police objection is received;

1.9 Decisions on whether a complaint is irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious, etc.

1.10 process and determine applications made under sections 41A to 41C and 86A 
to 86C of the Licensing Act 2003 (minor variations to premises licences and 
club premises certificates);

1.11 process and determine applications made under sections 25A and 41D of the 
Licensing Act (relating to the supply of alcohol in community premises) 
except where a police objection is received; and

1.12 to grant all applications under the Licensing Act 2003 where representations 
have been received from a responsible authority which requests that 
conditions be attached to the licence to be granted and that those conditions 
are subsequently agreed by the applicant and that there are no other 
outstanding matters to be resolved in respect of the application.

Page 75



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

2. In respect of licensing functions contained in the Gambling Act 2005 the discharge of 
the following functions:

2.1 Applications for a premises licence where no representations are received or 
representations are received but withdrawn;

2.2 Applications for a variation of a premises licence where no representations 
are received or representations are received but withdrawn;

2.3 Applications for a transfer of a premises licence where no representations 
are received or representations are received but withdrawn;

2.4 Applications for a provisional statement where no representations are 
received or representations are received but withdrawn;

2.5 A decision to initiate a review by a Licensing Authority by submission of a 
report for consideration by the Licensing Committee or a Licensing Sub-
Committee;

2.6 Applications for a club gaming/club machine permit where no 
representations are received or representations are received but withdrawn;

2.7 Applications for other permits;

2.8 Cancellation of licensed premises gaming machine permits;

2.9 Consideration of temporary use notices.

3. Determination of applications for hackney carriage and private hire driver licences 
where the applicant has a conviction, caution or evidence against him falling within 
the periods specified in the guidelines adopted by the Panel which relate to minor 
traffic offences and hackney carriage and private hire offences or which relate to 
other offences where the guidelines recommend or merit a warning being issued.

4. Determination of applications for hackney carriage and private hire licences where 
the vehicle to which the application relates falls outside the age limits prescribed by 
the policy relating to the age of vehicles.

5. Determination of all other applications not specifically reserved to the Taxi and 
General Licensing Panel for the grant or renewal of hackney carriage vehicle and 
driver licences, private hire vehicle, driver and operator licences, street collection 
permits and house to house collection permits.

6 The immediate suspension of a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence, 
pending a hearing before the Taxi and General Licensing Panel where such 
immediate suspension is in the interests of public safety.   

7. Determining whether any action should be taken in respect of hackney carriage and 
private hire driver licences and the suspension or revocation of such where the 
licence-holder has during the period of the licence been convicted of an offence 

Page 76



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

under or has failed to comply with the provisions of the Town and Police Clauses Act 
1847 or the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

8. Determination of matters delegated to him under the Council’s testing manual for 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles.

9. To institute proceedings in respect of breaches of licensing legislation, conditions or 
policies.

TAXI AND GENERAL 

Terms of Reference

1. Determination of applications for hackney carriage and private hire driver licences 
where the applicant has a conviction, caution or evidence against him falling within 
the periods specified in the guidelines adopted by the Panel which recommend or 
merit refusal of the application and which relate to offences other than minor traffic 
offences or hackney carriage and private hire offences;

2. Determining whether any action should be taken in respect of hackney carriage and 
private hire driver licences and the suspension or revocation of such where the 
licence-holder has during the period of the licence been convicted of an offence 
involving dishonesty, indecency or violence or where any other reasonable cause 
exists which might justify the taking of such action.

3. Determination of appeals from the decision of the Council’s Solicitor in respect of 
matters delegated to that officer;

4. The appointment of hackney carriage stands;

5. The fixing and variation of the table of fares relating to hackney carriage vehicles;

6. Making a recommendation to the Licensing Committee in respect of the level of fees 
to be charged for hackney carriage and private hire licences.

7. The making, determination, revocation and variation of policy and conditions 
relating to 

7.1 hackney carriage and private hire licensing, including the vehicle testing 
manual; and

7.2 street collection and house to house collection permits.

8. Subject to statutorily prescribed exceptions, to delegate any of its functions to an 
Officer of the authority.

Page 77



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

9. To establish one or more Sub-committees and, subject to statutorily prescribed 
exceptions, to delegate any of its functions to such Sub- committee(s).

10. Applications for the licensing of sex establishments.

Public Protection Manager

1. In respect of licensing functions contained in the Licensing Act 2003 the discharge of 
the following functions:

1.1 Applications for a personal licence where no objection is made;

1.2 Applications for a premises licence or club premises certificate where no 
representations are received or representations are received but withdrawn;

1.3 Application for a provisional statement where no representations are received or 
representation are received but withdrawn;

1.4 Applications to vary a premises licence or club registration certificate where no 
representations are received or representations are received but withdrawn;

1.5 Applications to vary the designated premises supervisor where no police objection is 
received;

1.6 Requests to be removed as a designated premises supervisor;

1.7 Applications for the transfer of a premises licences where no police objection is 
received;

1.8 Applications for interim authorities where no police objection is received;

1.9 Decisions on whether a complaint is irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious, etc.

1.10 process and determine applications made under sections 41A to 41C and 86A to 86C 
of the Licensing Act 2003 (minor variations to premises licences and club premises 
certificates);

1.11 process and determine applications made under sections 25A and 41D of the 
Licensing Act (relating to the supply of alcohol in community premises) except where 
a police objection is received; and

1.12 to grant all applications under the Licensing Act 2003 where representations have 
been received from a responsible authority which requests that conditions be 
attached to the licence to be granted and that those conditions are subsequently 
agreed by the applicant and that there are no other outstanding matters to be 
resolved in respect of the application.

2. In respect of licensing functions contained in the Gambling Act 2005 the discharge of 
the following functions:

Page 78



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

2.1 Applications for a premises licence where no representations are received or 
representations are received but withdrawn;

2.2 Applications for a variation of a premises licence where no representations are 
received or representations are received but withdrawn;

2.3 Applications for a transfer of a premises licence where no representations are 
received or representations are received but withdrawn;

2.4 Applications for a provisional statement where no representations are received or 
representations are received but withdrawn;

2.5 A decision to initiate a review by a Licensing Authority by submission of a report for 
consideration by the Licensing Committee or a Licensing Sub-Committee;

2.6 Applications for a club gaming/club machine permit where no representations are 
received or representations are received but withdrawn;

2.7 Applications for other permits;

2.8 Cancellation of licensed premises gaming machine permits;

2.9 Consideration of temporary use notices.

3. Determination of applications for hackney carriage and private hire driver licences 
where the applicant has a conviction, caution or evidence against him falling within 
the periods specified in the guidelines adopted by the Panel which relate to minor 
traffic offences and hackney carriage and private hire offences or which relate to 
other offences where the guidelines recommend or merit a warning being issued.

4. Determination of applications for hackney carriage and private hire licences where 
the vehicle to which the application relates falls outside the age limits prescribed by 
the policy relating to the age of vehicles.

5. Determination of all other applications not specifically reserved to the Taxi and 
General Licensing Panel for the grant or renewal of hackney carriage vehicle and 
driver licences, private hire vehicle, driver and operator licences, street collection 
permits and house to house collection permits.

6 The immediate suspension of a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence, 
pending a hearing before the Taxi and General Licensing Panel where such 
immediate suspension is in the interests of public safety.   

7. Determining whether any action should be taken in respect of hackney carriage and 
private hire driver licences and the suspension or revocation of such where the 
licence-holder has during the period of the licence been convicted of an offence 
under or has failed to comply with the provisions of the Town and Police Clauses Act 
1847 or the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

8. Determination of matters delegated to him under the Council’s testing manual for 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles.

Page 79



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019

9. To institute proceedings in respect of breaches of licensing legislation, conditions or 
policies.

Executive Director, Operations 

To take action in relation to breaches of licensing requirements affecting hackney 
carriage and private hire licences.

Appointment of hackney carriage stands Licensing Committee

Fixing/variation of hackney carriage table of 
fares

Licensing Committee

Fees for hackney carriage and private hire 
licences

Council as part of budget setting process

The determination, revocation and 
variation of policy relating to hackney 
carriage and private hire matters, sex 
establishments and street and house to 
house collections

Licensing Sub-Committee unless the chair 
of the Licensing Committee is of the 
opinion that the significance of the policy 
should be considered by the Licensing 
Committee

Licensing of sex establishments Licensing Sub-Committee

Determination of applications for hackney 
carriage and private hire driver licences 
where the applicant has a conviction, 
caution or evidence against him falling 
within the period specified in the adopted 
conviction guidelines and which 
recommend or merit refusal of the 
application and which relate to offences 
other than minor traffic offences or 
hackney carriage or private hire offences

Licensing Sub-Committee

Determining whether any action should be 
taken in respect of hackney carriage and 
private hire driver licences and the 
suspension and revocation of such where 
the licence-holder has during the period of 
the licence has been convicted of an 
offence involving dishonesty, indecency or 
violence or whether any other reasonable 
cause exists which might justify the taking 
of such action.

Licensing Sub-Committee

Appeals from decision taken by the Public 
Protection Manager or the Solicitor

Licensing Sub-Committee

Page 80



Constitution Part 3.4 [Type here] Ver 1  -  April 2019Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 3.5 Local Development Framework Working Party V1  -  Aug 2019

Name Local Development Framework Panel

Number of Members 7      (Politically Balanced)

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings As required

Lead Officer Planning Strategy Manager

Terms of Reference

1. To oversee the process of Local Plan review and replacement through:

 Consideration of the emerging legal, policy and best practice contexts for the plan 
together with the needs of the Borough.

 Making recommendations to the Council’s Executive on the overall form, and 
content of the replacement Local Plan including all strategic issues, policies and 
proposals.

 Maintenance of an approved timetable and programme of work towards formal 
adoption of the Replacement Plan.

 Consideration of the means, extent and timing of consultation with stakeholders 
and the local community to ensure inclusiveness and consistency with best 
practice.

 Consideration of formal objections/expressions of support at the appropriate 
stages and to make recommendations to the Council’s Executive for any changes 
to go forward to the Local Plan Inquiry.

 Consideration of arrangements for a Local Plan Inquiry including 
recommendations as regards advocacy or other specialist services.

 Consideration of monitoring arrangements for implementation and plan review 

2. To consider all national/regional/sub-regional planning policy guidance and related 
material and to advise the Council’s Executive on such issues when a formal 
corporate view is required. 

Page 83



Constitution Part 3.5 Local Development Framework Working Party V1  -  Aug 2019

3. To consider the future work programme involved in moving towards a new Local 
Development Framework approach to plan-making.

Page 84



Constitution Part 3.6 National Significant Infrastructure Projects Panel V1  -  Aug 2019

Name Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects Panel

Number of Members 5      (Not Politically Balanced)

Consists of: 
The Mayor,
Deputy Mayor,
Chair of Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board,
Chair of Planning Panel, and
Chair of Local Development Framework Working 
Party

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings Will be convened as and when necessary. 
These could be at short notice and regular over a 
short period of time in response to the timescales 

imposed by the consultation process.

Lead Officer Chief Executive

Terms of Reference

1.1 To take an overview and monitor progress of nationally significant infrastructure 
projects being progressed within the Borough and to provide a bi-annual 
progress report on such projects to the Planning Panel and Strategic Nuclear 
Energy Board; 

1.2 To respond, on behalf of the Council, to consultations initiated in respect of 
nationally significant infrastructure projects by third parties, to include 
developers and the Secretary of State; 

1.3 To refer to the Executive or Council (as appropriate), with recommendations, 
issues relating to nationally significant infrastructure projects which are likely to 
have direct strategic policy or budgetary implications (over £50,000) for the 
Council; and

1.4 To prepare and submit to the Executive for approval local impact reports in 
respect of the nationally significant infrastructure proposals. 

Page 85



Constitution Part 3.6 National Significant Infrastructure Projects Panel V1  -  Aug 2019

(A local impact report is a key document which forms part of the 2008 Act process. It 
is a document that local authorities affected by nationally significant infrastructure 
projects are entitled to produce and submit to the Planning Inspectorate. Along with 
National Policy Statements such reports are the only documents that must be 
specifically taken into account when a decision is made on an NSIP application, so 
they have a special importance. The intention is not to duplicate the project’s 
environmental statement but to contain information about local plan policies, other 
developments in the area, local characteristics, the impact of particular articles of 
the project's development consent order and the impact of development consent 
obligations.)

Background

2.1 The Executive on the 30th September 2014 agreed to create a Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects Panel (‘NSIPP’). A ‘nationally significant infrastructure project’ 
has its origins in the Planning Act 2008. That Act lists what types of development are 
significant for the purposes of the Act and requires the Secretary of State (as 
opposed to district or county planning authorities) to determine regulatory 
approvals, including planning consent, relating to them. The Act sets out detailed 
procedures to be followed in granting consent, including a requirement to consult 
district councils. The list of projects include (of relevance) the construction or 
extension of a generating station; the installation of an electric line above ground; 
highway-related development; the construction or alteration of harbour facilities; 
the construction or alteration of a railway; the construction or alteration of a rail 
freight interchange; the construction or alteration of a hazardous waste facility; and 
development relating to a radioactive waste geological disposal facility.

2.2 The purpose of creating the NSIPP was to enable a group of members to specialise in 
such projects which were proceeding under the 2008 Act, to become familiar with 
the Act’s procedures and to respond to consultations on behalf of the Council. The 
Planning Panel has its own specialist work in delivering the Council’s role as district 
planning authority; the Strategic Nuclear Energy Board focuses on nuclear matters; 
and the Local Development Framework Working Party oversees the process of 
reviewing the local plan. Whilst, from time to time, there will be overlaps between 
the four bodies their roles remain distinct and NSIPP is charged with responding to 
consultations on significant projects. 

2.3 The Executive therefore established the NSIPP and agreed to ‘instigate any formal 
processes needed to secure constitutional change required to enable the Panel to be 
established’ and ‘that until the NSIPP is established that the Executive take any 
interim decisions with regard to the development consent order process’.  The 
constitutional changes necessary to formalise the Panel remain to be dealt with.

2.4 Council agreed to establishing an NSIPP on 27 September 2016

Page 86



Constitution Part 3.7 Overview and Scrutiny V1  -  Aug 2019

Name Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Number of Members 11   Politically Balanced

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings Every 2 months (Additional meetings as required)

Lead Officer Scrutiny Officer

Terms of Reference

1. scrutinise services delivered by the Council
2. scrutinise the budget process
3. scrutinise the development of the Corporate Planning process and any other key 

strategy
4. hold the Executive to account by keeping the Forward Plan under review and 

reviewing decisions
5. monitor the implementation of any Overview and Scrutiny recommendations 

accepted by the Executive 
6. scrutinise performance issues within the Council and make recommendations for 

service improvements
7. scrutinise the results and issues arising from external inspections of Council services
8. review issues of local concern
9. appoint Improvement Groups as necessary to carry out detailed Overview and 

Scrutiny work
10. scrutinise locality working and partnership working arrangements including the Local 

Strategic Partnership
11. scrutinise other decision makers where their decisions affect the Borough including 

the Copeland Local Area Committee, Cumbria Association of Local Councils, the Lake 
District National Park and major regeneration organisations and funders

12. scrutinise the West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership and act as the Crime and 
Disorder Committee

13. contribute to statutory obligations in relation to scrutiny of health issues
14. monitor and review the Council’s performance and finance reports

Page 87



Constitution Part 3.7 Overview and Scrutiny V1  -  Aug 2019

Within its terms of reference, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will:

i) Review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 
discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

ii) Make reports and/or recommendations to the Council and/or its Executive and other 
Committees and/or any Joint Committee in connection with the discharge of any 
functions and/or any other partner organisation;

iii) Be involved from the initial stage of policy development and make appropriate 
recommendations to the Executive and officers.  

iv) Consider any matter affecting the area;
v) Consider/determine called in decisions of the Executive in accordance with the “Call-

in” Procedure set out in the Procedure Rules within this Constitution.
vi) Monitor performance and delivery of the Housing Strategy Annual Action Plan;
vii) Look at specific growth and contractor elements of Housing in liaison and   

addition to the current considerations of housing development within the 
Council’s Local Plan Working Group and the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board;

viii) Discuss housing issues of concern to members and link to key partners including
social housing providers by invite. The Council has no operational role in   
providing social housing and would be using the strategic housing OSC sub-  
committee to offer feedback, views and requests;

ix) Act as a member advisory group on strategic housing issues within the borough in 
support of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and make recommendations via OSC 
full committee to the Executive on issues, risks and action. (These strategic housing 
issues would link to the Housing Strategy strategic objectives).

Page 88



TO BE REVIEWED

Name Personnel Panel

Number of Members 7

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings As required

Lead Officer Chief Executive

Personnel Panel

         The Council will appoint a Personnel Panel comprising of seven members.

         The Terms of Reference for the Personnel Panel are-

1. To consider applications for, conduct interviews for, and make recommendations 
to Council on the appointment of those officers which cannot by virtue of the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 be appointed by the 
Head of Paid Service or an officer nominated by her. Such officers are the head of 
paid service, the Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer and other persons 
reporting directly to the head of paid service, statutory or non-statutory chief 
officer as defined;

2. To consider and determine proposals and make recommendations to the 
Executive and/or Council for major service restructurings (major being those 
involving the officers defined in 1 above, those affecting more than 2 teams and 
those affecting more than 10 employees).

3. To consider and determine matters relating to the disciplinary, capability and 
redundancy of the officers defined in 1 above. The 2001 Regulations referred to 
above set out the process to be followed in relation to the dismissal of those 
officers.

4. Be responsible for all matters relating to the salary and conditions of service of the 

Page 89



Head of Paid Service, in accordance with such policies as may be decided by the 
Council from time to time.

5. Determine applications for early retirement which fall outside the delegation to 
the Head of Paid Service.

6. Conduct hearings and determine any matters referred to the Panel in accordance 
with the Council’s Disciplinary, Grievance and Redundancy Procedures.

7. Endorse the Council’s annual Pay Policy statement prior to Full Council approval.

8. Consider and advise the Executive and Council on the development of all policies 
on     employment and the Council’s Pay and Workforce Strategy.

9. To allow the Head of Paid Service the option to refer any additional relevant 
matters as appropriate.

To be incorporated

1.   That, in order to comply with the Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders)(England)(Regulations) 2001 (as amended by the Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015), Council:

i. Appoints the Appointments and Appeals Panel as a committee appointed under 
section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of advising the 
Council on matters relating to the dismissal of relevant officers of the Authority and 
amend its terms of reference accordingly in the Council’s Constitution.

ii. Endorses the invitation on behalf of the Council to the two Independent Persons to be 
considered for appointment to the Panel and appoints Anthony Payne and John 
Graham as co-opted members of the Appointments and Appeals Panel only for 
dealing with matters relating to the dismissal of relevant officers in accordance with 
the statutory procedure.

iii. Amends any other reference in the Constitution so as to comply with the amended 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders)(England) Regulations 2001.

iv. Agrees that the changes become effective on 23 June 2015.
v. Authorises the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chief Executive to make 

the necessary amendments and any consequential amendments to the Constitution.
vi.

1 Introduction
1.1 On 25 March 2015 the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government laid 

before Parliament the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 20151.  These regulations came into force on 11 May 2015 and the Council is 
obliged to implement the changes no later than its first ordinary meeting after that date.

1 SI2105/881

Page 90



1.2 The changes to the rules relate to the procedure to be followed in relation to disciplinary 
action taken against the Head of the Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or the Chief 
Finance Officer.  Under the outgoing regime, the Council had to appoint a Designated 
Independent Person (DIP) to investigate a disciplinary matter involving those officers 
and the Council could then only take action in accordance with the DIP’s report and 
recommendations.  The new regulations seek to introduce a new streamlined procedure 
whilst attempting to retain some independent check within the system.  They give the 
“independent person” appointed to support the members’ conduct framework a role in 
the disciplinary process for statutory officers. 

1.3 In summary, under the new rules, the Council must:

i. incorporate the procedure set out in the regulations into its Standing Orders and 
modify any other procedures to conform with the new regulations (including the 
previous provisions relating to the investigation of alleged misconduct);

ii. approve any appointment of the head of the paid service before an offer of 
appointment is made to that person;

iii. approve the dismissal of an officer designated as the head of the authority’s paid 
service, the authority’s chief finance officer or as the authority’s monitoring officer 
(relevant officers) before notice of such a dismissal is given to that person;  

iv. appoint a committee under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the 
purpose of advising the Council on the dismissal of relevant officers;

v. invite relevant independent persons to be considered for appointment to the ‘Panel’ 
(i.e. the committee referred to in (iv)).  A relevant independent person is any person 
appointed by the Council as an independent person under the standards regime.  
The Council must appoint to the Panel such relevant independent persons who have 
accepted the invitation (these can be the City Council’s own independent persons or 
those appointed by another authority);

vi. must not dismiss a relevant officer unless the procedure specified in the regulations 
has been complied with;

vii. before taking a vote at the relevant [Council] meeting on whether or not to approve 
any dismissal, the authority must take into account, in particular – 

a. any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel;
b. the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and
c. any representations from the relevant officer.

1.4 The regulations say that any remuneration, allowance or fees paid to an independent 
person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of remuneration payable to 
that person in their role as an independent person under the Standards regime.  It is felt 
that the current allowance of £100 per annum is sufficient to cover the role of the 
independent person in both the standards and dismissal regime.

Page 91



1.5 In anticipation of this report, the Monitoring Officer wrote to the Council’s two 
appointed Independent Persons, John Graham and Anthony Payne, to invite them to be 
considered for appointment to the Panel.  Both said that they would be prepared to be 
considered.

APPOINTMENTS AND APPEALS PANEL

To act as a Complaints Panel to determine appeals under stage III of the Council's 
Complaints Procedure, with powers to award compensation to a maximum of £1,000 
or such other limit as may be specified in Financial Regulations and in consultation with 
the section 151 Officer.

Determination of appeals against decisions under Section 64 of the Housing Act 1981.

Determination of appeals relating to homelessness applications, and to decisions 
relating to the Housing Register under Sections 202 and 164 of the Housing Act 1996.

Determination of appeals over discretionary housing allowances.

To act as an appeal body in relation to decisions of the Personnel Panel where a further 
right of appeal to Members is provided, including matters relating to discipline and 
grievance and early retirement 

To determine all appeals of a quasi-judicial nature against Council decisions which are 
not specifically delegated to another Panel.

Page 92



Constitution Part 3.8 Planning Panel V1  -  October 2019

Name Planning Panel

Number of Members 11   Politically Balanced

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings Every 4 weeks

Lead Officer Planning Development Manager

Terms of Reference

1. Determination of applications for planning permission and consultation on planning 
applications or Crown proposals which shall include applications for the 
development or change of use of premises and matters relating to historic buildings. 
Enforcement of all legislation relating to planning control other than those delegated 
for determination to the Chief Executive and/or Planning and Place Manager. This 
shall include applications made by the Council itself which were previously reserved 
to Council.

2. Receiving and making representations from and to adjacent local authorities. 

3. Authorising the making of Directions pursuant to Article 4 of The Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 and agreements under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

4. Receiving the results of appeals under planning legislation and costs incurred.

5. Implementing policy relating to development management, and recommending and 
implementing policies relating to the conservation of the built environment. 

6. Making orders for the revocation or modification of planning permission or for the 
discontinuance of use of land subject to the concurrence of the Policy Forum in any 
case where compensation shall thereby become payable.

7. Determining applications under the Land Compensation Act 1961 and granting 
certificates of alternative development and lawfulness.

8. Authorising Hazardous Substance consents and serving contravention Notices.

Page 93



Constitution Part 3.8 Planning Panel V1  -  October 2019

9. The naming of streets and numbering of houses.

10. Determination of all issues relating to the creation, diversion, stopping up or 
interference (other than of a temporary nature) of highways, particularly 
consultation matters from the highway authority.

11. The making of tree preservation orders.

12. The designation of conservation areas.

NOTE: County matters, the Lake District National Park Authority and nationally 
significant infrastructure projects are not dealt with by the Council

Page 94



Part 3.10 Standards and Ethics Committee V1 – Aug 2019

Name Standards & Ethics Committee

Number of Members 7      (Politically Balanced)

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings As required

Lead Officer Director of Corporate Services and Commercial 
Strategy 

Terms of Reference

i) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-opted 
members (in both the district council and parish councils). 

ii) Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
iii) To hear and determine complaints under the code of conduct that have been 

received in accordance with the procedure adopted by Council. 
iv) To monitor the operation of the Council’s whistle-blowing policy. 
v) To keep the Council’s constitution under review in accordance with section 9P of the 

Local Government Act 2000, and, to make timely recommendations to Council to 
ensure that it is kept up to date.

vi) To oversee all councillor training and development on behalf of the Council including 
approving all training and development strategies and programmes for councillors 
and agreeing the Annual Member Development Programme and events not included 
in the programme.

vii) To encourage and promote a culture of learning and continuous improvement for 
councillors.

viii)To monitor and review the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members and the 
arrangements for determining allegations of breaches, making recommendations to 
Council when necessary.

ix) To receive bi-annual statistical reports from the Monitoring Officer on allegations 
received and processed.

x) To agree a Scheme for Dispensations under Section 33 of the Localism Act, and to 
determine any applications for dispensations.

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Part 3.11 Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board  V1  -  Aug 2019

Name Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board

Number of Members 7      (Politically Balanced)

Quorum 3

Frequency of Meetings Approx every two months

Lead Officer Chief Executive

Terms of Reference

The overarching purpose of the Board is to maintain knowledge and information levels of 
environmental, social and economic aspects of the nuclear industry in order that the Council’s 
policies on these important matters consistently represent the best interest of community 
and advise the Executive on policy relating to the nuclear industry and its impact on Copeland.

1. Liaison and Research

In carrying out its duties above the Board will as and when necessary:
i) liaise with all the industry stakeholders.
ii) liaise with other local authorities, regional and central 

government and other governmental agencies.
iii) make recommendations on research. 

2. Relationship with Portfolio Holders

The Group will support the work of portfolio holders that have specific responsibilities 
in relation to the nuclear industry.  In doing so the Group will:

i) take into account the needs of the portfolio holder in 
undertaking the Council’s Executive responsibilities in 
relation to the industry.

ii) consult with relevant portfolio holders on the 
preparation of policy recommendations.

Page 97



Constitution Part 3.11 Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board  V1  -  Aug 2019

3. Areas of Focus

Areas of focus falling within the terms of reference are:

i. public and worker safety.

ii. the role of local communities in influencing and guiding 
decisions both in a UK and international context.

iii. activity occurring on nuclear sites in Copeland.

iv. activity occurring on nuclear sites elsewhere and its potential 
impact on Copeland.

v. county, regional, national and international policy in relation 
to energy, environmental and safety issues affecting the 
nuclear industry in Copeland.

vi. environmental issues arising from the nuclear licensed sites in 
Copeland.

vii. safety issues arising from the nuclear licensed sites in 
Copeland.

viii. national and international policy in relation to managing and 
funding the nuclear industry and energy industry as a whole.

ix. socio economic impact of the nuclear industry.

x. community support from the nuclear industry.

xi. community engagement and involvement in decisions 
affecting the industry.

xii. Scrutiny of the industry.

Page 98



STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE  051119

CONSTITUTION CHANGES - PLANNING

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore, Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and 
Corporate Services

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services & 
Commercial Strategy

REPORT AUTHOR: Clive Willoughby, Democratic Services Officer

SUMMARY:

This report seeks approval for an amendment to the Planning section of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

RECOMMENDATION:                                                                              

That the committee makes an appropriate recommendation to Full Council after considering 
this matter. 

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 At the full Council meeting on 9 September 2019, members referred the revised 
Planning Panel Site Visit section of the Constitution to this Committee for further 
consideration and requested the Standards and Ethics Committee make a 
recommendation back to Council at the earliest opportunity. 

1.2 The purpose of the Constitution is to set out the fundamental principles and 
procedures which govern the operation of the council.   Local Authorities are required 
by the Local Government Act 2000 to adopt a Constitution which contains a copy of 
the Council’s standing orders, its code of conduct for members and “such other 
information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate” (Section 37(1)(d)).

1.3 The must keep its constitution under review. 

1.4 This ensures that the Constitution is a living document which accurately reflects 
current legislation and Council policy and priorities.

2.   CONSTITUTION AMENDMENT

2.1 Appendix A to this report sets out the proposed amendment and the issues this 
raised and the reason for the change.

Page 99

Agenda Item 5



3. CONCLUSIONS

3.1 The changes are necessary to improve the way we corporately operate, conduct 
business, ensure efficient processes and, to facilitate effective and streamlined 
decision-making.  Approval is sought for the recommendation contained on the first 
page of this report, which may then be adopted with the Council’s Constitution.

3.2 A new version of the constitution incorporating previous amendments approved by 
Council, together with this amendment if approved, will be made available and 
published on the internet. 

3.3 Standards and Ethics Committee are to consider this report, in particular the legal 
comments, and consider how they wish to proceed. 

4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 Legal/Monitoring Officer comments: At the Council meeting members were advised 
that the presence at site visits of objectors (whether they be parish council 
representatives or statutory objectors) created a risk of appearance of bias. The point 
about bias in this case is that if parish councillors attend a site visit to the exclusion of 
the applicant and other objectors then the appearance of bias might be given. 

If planning panel members, officers, ward councillors, parish councillors, other 
objectors and the applicant were invited to attend a site visit then there would be no 
bias nor any appearance of it and no decision would be capable of being challenged 
on that ground. The potential for the appearance of bias starts when you are selective 
about who can attend.

In terms of parish councils, they have similar opportunity as everyone else to object in 
writing and then attend the Planning Panel meeting. This should be sufficient to put 
their case forward.

If members insist on some objectors being present then it is important that a protocol 
is devised which sets out the procedure at site visits, its purposes and what can and 
cannot be discussed. Detailed notes of what is said, should also be taken and 
retained. 

4.2 Financial comments: No financial implications arise from this report.

4.3 EIA Comments: No equality issues arise from this report.

4.4 Policy Framework: No issues arise from this report.

List of Appendices: 

Appendix 1 – Proposed change to the Planning Panel Site Visit section of the Constitution 

Page 100



Appendix 1

Area of 
Change

Proposed Change Issues Raised Revisions Reason For Change

Planning 
Panel 
Members 
Site Visits

1. If a site visit is recommended by the 
officer’s report the following people 
shall be invited to attend:- 

a. The Council’s Planning Officers
b. Members of the Planning Panel 
c. Technical Officers of Statutory bodies, 

giving technical evidence where 
necessary e.g. Highways officer.

 
2. No other person shall be in attendance 

at the site visit. This includes Parish 
Councillors, Ward Councillors, and 
County Councillors. Should the 
Parish/Town Council require a site visit 
in order to inform their comments on 
any particular planning application that 
is to be the subject of a Members site 
visit then a separate site visit can be 
facilitated by the Planning Development 
Manager (or representative) with prior 
notice. 

3. Members’ attendance at a site visit is to 
be in line with the procedure set out in 
the Protocol for Planning Panel 
Members.

Clarification on whether 
the Parish Council will be 
excluded from the site 
visits has been sought. 

How will low numbers of 
Members turning up at 
site visits affect the 
validity of the decision 
making process, 
especially as the quorum 
for the Planning Panel is 
only 3 Members?
Would the Panel 
meeting be deferred if 
insufficient numbers 
were present to allow an 
additional site visit to 
take place?

How would the 
deferment be dealt with 
in terms of timescales for 
the determination of 
planning applications? 

No further revisions 
proposed. 

The proposal as 
amended offers the 
Parish Council an 
opportunity for a 
site visit with the 
Planning Officer 
separate to the 
Members site visit to 
allow their 
comments to be 
informed by site 
specific information. 
Parish Councils also 
have the 
opportunity to 
attend the Planning 
Panel meetings and 
make their 
observations in 
person. 

Site visits are for the benefit of 
Members of the Planning Panel 
and are useful to provide an 
understanding of the local 
context of the site and its 
surroundings, the development 
proposed and seeks any 
clarification from Officers that 
Members may have. The 
current procedure where 
Parish/Town Councils and 
Ward and County Councillors 
are invited results in the 
unacceptable lobbying of 
Members which introduces 
bias into the process and leave 
the Council open to legal 
challenge. 

The requirement that decisions 
are only made by those 
Members who attend the site 
visit is important to ensure that 
decisions are made in an open 
and honest way, based on 
credible evidence and are 
sufficiently robust.  

P
age 101



P
age 102


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 17 September 2019
	4 Constitution Changes
	Front Cover
	Contents
	Part 1 Summary and Explanation
	Part 2  Articles of the Constitution
	Part 2 Article 1 Overview of the Constitution and its Purpose
	Part 2 Article 2 Members of the Council
	Part 2 Article 3 Citizens and the Council
	Part 2 Article 4 The Full Council
	Part 2 Article 5 Chairing the Council
	Part 2 Article 6 Overview and Scrutiny
	Part 2 Article 7 The Executive
	Part 2 Article 8 Regulatory Committees
	Part 2 Article 9 Standards & Ethics Committee
	Part 2 Article 11 Decision Making
	Part 2 Article 12 Joint Arrangments
	Part 2 Article 13 Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters
	Part 2 Article 14 - Review and Revision of the Constitution
	Part 2 Article 15 Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution
	Part 3.1 Committees - Audit Committee
	Part 3.2 Committees - Electoral Review Panel
	Part 3.3 Committees - Executive
	Part 3.4 Committees - Licensing Committee
	Part 3.5 Committees - Local Development Framework Panel
	Part 3.6 Committees - Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects Panel
	Part 3.7 Committees - Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Part 3.8 Committees - Personnel Panel
	Part 3.9 Committees - Planning Panel
	Part 3.10 Committees - Standards & Ethics Committee
	Part 3.11 Committees - Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board

	5 Constitution Changes - Planning
	Appendix A Summary of Proposed Planning Constitutional Change


